
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9

TRANSFORMING



MISSION

To be the leading charity for the advancement of 
lifelong health in the community.VISION

Promoting lifelong health, serving the community.

CORE 
VALUES

Compassion
Respect
Excellence
Accountability
Teamwork
Empowerment
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MESSAGE FROM
THE CHAIRMAN
In 2019, SATA CommHealth has continued its mission to 
advance lifelong health for the community through our medical 
centres, day rehabilitation centres, homecare as well as mobile 
medical services. We have continued to use 3 key strategies to 
maximise our social impact.
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Firstly, we focused on strengthening our core traditional 
services through our medical centres which include 
the family physicians’ consultations for acute and 
chronic disease follow-up, diagnostic imaging, health 
screenings as well as vaccinations. Additional services 
like Lasting Power of Attorney, Advance Care Planning, 
pain management as well as health counselling were 
introduced as well. The patients or clients that come 
through us are also looked at holistically and their 
bio-psycho-social needs are addressed using an 
integrated model of care.

Secondly, the charity embarked on different community 
programmes to better serve our beneficiaries - we 
created the Community Hub at Fernvale in 2019 
which provides both health and social services to 
the Sengkang residents. Home personal care was 
another new service that was started to assist 
homebound patients in their daily activities like 
bathing. The “Strong Bones – Falls Prevention and 
Osteoporosis” was another programme launched to 
prevent falls and hip fractures among seniors.

Thirdly, we focused on innovation to improve 
productivity. We have embarked on a Digital 
Transformation journey with the transition of our 
main IT clinical system moving over to the cloud-
based Clinic Assist Software. A Rebranding exercise 
was carried out as well to help the organisation better 
connect with our existing and future stakeholders.

There are two main channels for us to reach out to 
serve our beneficiaries. The first channel is through our 
centres and mobile events whereby our beneficiaries 
come to seek our services like vaccinations, statutory 
checks and medical consultations. The second channel 
is for those who are elderly and vulnerable with 
mobility issues and cannot leave their homes easily. 
For this group, we provide our functional screening 
services, homecare services, doctors-on-wheels and 
rehabilitation services.

In 2019, we rendered 365,000 through the first 
channel and 63,000 episodes of care through the 
second channel. As we seek to integrate our services 
within SATA CommHealth as well as with our main 
partners from the Regional Health Systems, other social 
agencies and the grassroots, we actively assess the 
care needs of our beneficiaries in the medical centres 
and ensure that they can also benefit from our services 
for the needy. For example, an office worker who 
comes to us for statutory employment medical check 
may have a needy parent or grandparent who can 
benefit from our homecare services.

The charity has also strengthened our internal 
processes. We have completed an Enterprise Risk 
Management exercise which saw us identify key 
organisation risks and putting mitigating measures 

in place. A Cyber-security assessment was done to 
identify vulnerable IT areas which were promptly 
fortified.

SATA CommHealth was awarded the Institutions of 
a Public Character (IPCs) status in 2019. IPCs are 
held to a higher standard, both in terms of regulatory 
compliance as well as governance. We will continue to 
explore Corporate Social Responsibility activities with 
other organisations in order to build our volunteer and 
donor pool.

Ms Grace Fu, Minister for Culture, Community and 
Youth, said at the Charity Transparency and Governance 
Awards 2019 ceremony “Charities play a key role 
in building a caring and inclusive Singapore. Good 
governance and disclosure practices in charities give 
the public confidence that their donations are put 
to purposeful use.” SATA CommHealth is one of the 
winners for the Charity Transparency Awards. We have 
secured the award for three consecutive years from 
2016 and will continue to be transparent and timely on 
the communication of information to our stakeholders.

SATA CommHealth received a Gold and 3 Silver awards 
at the Singapore Health Quality Service Awards from 
President Halimah Yacob. For an organisation to 
function entirely and grow effectively, it is essential 
to have ardent contributions from employees at each 
individual level. 

I like to thank the management team and staff for their 
commitment to serve the community. I would also 
like to extend my appreciation to the Board Directors, 
Committee Members, stakeholders and partners for 
their contributions and support in 2019. 

We aspire to grow SATA CommHealth to continuously 
extend our care to more people in the community for 
years to come.

MS THERESA GOH
Chairman

IN YEAR 2019:

WE RENDERED

WE RENDERED

SATA COMMHEALTH IS ONE OF 
THE WINNERS FOR THE 

WE HAVE SECURED THE AWARD 
FOR THREE CONSECUTIVE YEARS 
FROM 2016.

365,000

63,000

CHARITY 
TRANSPARENCY
AWARDS.

EPISODES THROUGH THE FIRST 
CHANNEL – OUR CENTRES AND 
MOBILE EVENTS.

EPISODES THROUGH THE 
SECOND CHANNEL – OUR 
FUNCTIONAL SCREENING 
SERVICES, HOMECARE SERVICES, 
DOCTORS-ON-WHEELS AND 
REHABILITATION SERVICES.
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MESSAGE FROM
THE CEO
2019 has been an exciting and rewarding year for
SATA CommHealth as we continued to innovate and evolve, 
enabling the creation of greater social impact and outreach
to the community.
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“THE BURNING PLATFORM”
As our population ages, Singapore faces a rapid increase in demand for 
health and social care services with a limited pool of healthcare workers. It 
is crucial that SATA CommHealth continues to transform care to meet the 
demands of the nation as well as to ensure long term sustainability of our 
community programmes.

“THE BURNING AMBITION”
The official opening of our Community Hub in Fernvale on 30 June 2019 
marks the beginning of a novel care model that provides both health and 
social services to the residents in the Sengkang community. Apart from 
providing medical care and diagnostics to the residents, our Community 
Hub works closely with community partners and Sengkang Health, 
embarking on a Frailty Screening programme that aims to screen for 
seniors who are frail or “pre-frail”. Community exercises and nutritional 
interventions were subsequently introduced to lower their risk of falls and 
improve their quality of life. 

Since its opening, our Fernvale Community Hub has rolled out the “Strong 
Bones – Falls Prevention and Osteoporosis” programmes, which cover talks 
and workshops for the elderly, screening and assessment, active ageing 
exercise and as well as rehabilitation intervention, home assessment/
modification, community integration and in addition to caregiver training to 
more than 1,400 residents. 

Another medical centre at Boon Lay was officially opened on 5 October 
2019 by Mr Desmond Lee, Minister for Social and Family Development 
and Second Minister for National Development. Combined with community 
health screening for the residents of Boon Lay, we saw more than 200 
residents in attendance for vaccinations, diagnostic imaging screening 
and medical services. We reached out to the community in Boon Lay using 
the integrative care model. The patients were assessed not only for their 
healthcare needs, but also given assistance to address their bio-psycho-
social aspects as well. 

This centre has also played a crucial role in its outreach to the community 
for osteoporosis screening, using the Bone Mineral Density (BMD) 
examination. To date, the centre has been able to offer heavily subsidised 
BMD tests to more than 487 residents, as well as assist in the provision of 
treatment for this disease, that affects many of the elderly in Singapore. 

2019 also saw the upgrading and implementation of our new information 
technology system (the Clinic Assist Software or CAS), enabling SATA 
CommHealth to further strengthen seamless services to our patients. As 
of December 2019, all medical centres and community programmes have 
been using CAS. In 2020, this system will seek further enhancements to 
enhance our capabilities in digital innovation to improve our patient care.

SERVING THE COMMUNITY
In 2019, there were 63,000 episodes of care rendered to 43,000 
beneficiaries across our various community programmes. Apart from our 
long established programmes such as Doctor-on-Wheels, Homecare, Day 
Rehabilitation, Community Events and Functional Screening, we further 
reached out to even more beneficiaries by offering subsidised care at our 
medical centres. 

The amount spent on community programmes was increased from $3.1 
million in 2018 to $4.7 million in 2019. These programmes have introduced 
a wide range of services for the promotion of lifelong health for senior 
citizens and vulnerable residents. This initiative aims to engage and 
empower seniors to lead active and healthy lives in the community.

Our doctors, nurses and allied health workers are working towards 
integrated care for our beneficiaries. Our doctors, nurses and allied health 
workers are increasingly working together to offer such holistic care to our 
beneficiaries. We have also evolved to integrate and collaborate with more 
partners, with all of our medical centres registered with various Primary 
Care Networks. Another collaboration that we recently embarked upon 
is the Community Right Siting Programme (CRiSP) with Tan Tock Seng 
Hospital (TTSH), which allows stable patients from specialist outpatient 
clinics to visit SATA CommHealth medical centres within close proximity to 
their homes.

As we increase our outreach and services to the community to enrich 
more lives, we will concentrate our efforts further on building volunteerism 
as well as increasing donations to fund these programmes. This is made 
possible since we re-attained our Institutions of a Public Character (IPCs) 
status under the Charities Act on 20 June 2019.
 
LOOKING FORWARD
‘People’ and ‘Innovation’ are the two key ingredients for us to successfully 
transform care to better serve the community. We will focus on these 
2 areas in the year 2020. I am ever so grateful to my team of staff and 
management at SATA CommHealth for their unyielding support and 
commitment to our mission. To our Chairman, Board of Directors and 
Committee members, thank you for their continuing support and guidance 
in the past year. To our beneficiaries, we assure you of our commitment to 
serve you better. 

DR KELVIN PHUA
Chief Executive Officer

IN YEAR 2019:

COMMUNITY PROGRAMMES 
TO IMPROVE QUALITY OF LIFE 
FOR SENIOR CITIZENS AND 
VULNERABLE RESIDENTS.

$4.7M SPENT ON

ARE THE TWO KEY INGREDIENTS 
FOR US TO SUCCESSFULLY 
TRANSFORM CARE TO BETTER 
SERVE THE COMMUNITY.

‘PEOPLE’ AND 
‘INNOVATION’
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

DR EDWARD
YANG
Vice Chairman

MS THERESA
GOH
Chairman

MS FANG
EU-LIN
Director

MR JOHN
YONG
Director

MR STANLEY
SIA
Vice Chairman

MR MICHAEL
BUCHHOLZ
Director
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A/PROF
JASON YAP
Director

A/PROF THEMIN 
SUWARDY
Director

MR SHAILESH
GANU
Director

MS POH
MUI HOON
Director

MR DUMAS 
CHIN
Director

MR MATTHEW 
SAW
Director
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COMMITMENT TO GOOD GOVERNANCE
In its commitment to practise the highest standards of governance 
when discharging its roles and responsibilities, the Board is guided by 
best practices in the corporate and voluntary sectors, especially those 
recommended by the Code of Governance for Charities and Institutions of a 
Public Character (“Code”).

The Board holds the view that good governance is key to ensure the 
integrity and effectiveness of the organisation. The Board, management 
and staff must apply the principle of fairness, accountability, responsibility 
in all actions and remain transparent in reports to all stakeholders.

The Governance and Nominating Committee (GNC) continued to assist the 
Board to implement, review and develop SATA CommHealth’s corporate 
governance guidelines. 

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
For robust governance, Board strives to ensure that there is sufficient range 
and diversity of expertise and viewpoints among the directors.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The Board uses a diversity matrix in its effort to ensure that directors, 
as a group, have core competencies in areas such as accounting and 
finance, management, law, medicine, strategic planning, technology, 
social enterprise and community-related experience. In terms of gender 
diversity, Board ensures that no gender has less than 25% representation.  
The 12-member Board consisted of three female (25%) and seven male 
directors (75%) in FY2019.

All directors must be independent. Independence refers to not
having any family, employment, business and other relationship with
SATA CommHealth, or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably 
perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Board directors’ independent 
judgement to safeguard the best interests of SATA CommHealth. No director 
shall be related to another director by blood or marriage and no director 
is currently employed by SATA CommHealth. No staff are on the SATA 
CommHealth Board.  

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is an ex-officio and non-voting member 
of the Board who attends all Board meetings unless otherwise directed by 
the Board. Other management staff are invited from time to time to attend 
and make presentations at Board meetings. 

TRANSFORMING COMMUNITY CARE TOGETHER •  ANNUAL REPORT 201908



The Board has a formalised process for the appointment/re-appointment of 
Board directors and members of Board Committees. The election process 
of Board directors guides SATA CommHealth to think 2 terms ahead and 
succession discussions take place months before every Annual General 
Meeting. Potential Board directors are sourced through independent 
methods, Board recommendations and existing sub-committee members. 
GNC screens and conducts reference checks on interested candidates and 
make its recommendations to the Board for approval.  

All directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-appointment 
every 2 years. 

Every director has a maximum term limit of eight years of continuous 
service on the Board; except that an additional two years extension is 
allowed for key appointment holders for continuity reasons, subject to the 
recommendation by GNC and approval by Board. No Board director shall 
serve for more than ten consecutive years. In FY2019, none of the 12 
directors served for more than 10 years. 

The Treasurer (Chairman of Investment & Finance Committee) has a term 
limit of 4 years. 

The composition of the Board, the profile of the directors and the number of 
Board meetings attended by each director are shown below.

MS POH MUI HOON (AGE 57) 

• BBA – National University of Singapore
• MBA - Syracuse University
• Postgraduate Diploma in Systems Analysis
• IMD – Digital Strategy & Execution

• Independent Director, Singapore Pools
• Independent Director, SISTIC Pte Ltd
• Independent Director, Singapore Institute  
 of Directors (SID)
• Director, TransformX Pte Ltd
• Executive Director, Esseplore Pte Ltd
• Director, Plum One Venture Pte Ltd

28.06.2012 26.06.2018 5/6

A/PROF JASON CH YAP (AGE 57) 
Vice Chairman (since 20.06.2019)

• MBBS, MMed(PH), FAMS, FRSPH, MBA(IS),  
 MCS(ST)

• Associate Professor, Saw Swee Hock  
 School of Public Health, NUHS
• Director (Public Health Translation), NUS  
 Saw Swee Hock School of Public Health
• Programme Director for the NUHS  
 National Preventive Medicine Residency  
 Programme

23.06.2016 26.06.2018 4/6

MR STANLEY SIA (AGE 48) 
Vice Chairman

• Masters of Business Administration (UK)
• Bachelor of Business (Accounting)
• Fellow of CPA (Australia)

• CFO, Risk and Compliance, Group Finance,  
 Standard Chartered Bank
• Member of the Singapore Divisional  
 Council of CPA Australia
• Chief Commercial Officer, nexus,
 SC Ventures, Standard Chartered Bank

28.06.2012 26.06.2018 5/6

MS THERESA GOH (AGE 57) 
Chairman

• Executive Masters in Science 
 (Organisational Psychology)
• Bachelor of Business Administration, NUS

• Managing Director, 360 Dynamics Pte Ltd 
• Director, Agency for Integrated Care (AIC)
• Council Member, Singapore Institute of  
 Directors

28.06.2012 26.06.2018 6/6

DR EDWARD YANG (AGE 62) 
Vice Chairman (till 20.06.2019)

• MBBS – National University of Singapore
• DMRT London
• FRCR United Kingdom (Clinical Oncology)
• FAMS Academy of Medicine, Singapore

• Consultant Radiation Oncologist,  
 Gleneagles Hospital

27.06.2013 20.06.2019 6/6

QUALIFICATIONS DATE FIRST
APPOINTED

DATE OF
LAST ELECTION
OF DIRECTOR

ATTENDANCE
AT BOARD

MEETINGS 2019

KEY DIRECTORSHIPS
& APPOINTMENTS

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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A/PROF THEMIN SUWARDY (AGE 48) 

• Fellow, ISCA, CPA Australia, ICMA
• Doctor of Philosophy, Bachelor of Business  
 (Accounting) (Hons), Bachelor of Computing  
 (Information Systems), Monash University,  
 Australia

• Dean, Postgraduate Professional  
 Programmes, Singapore Management  
 University
• Associate Professor of Accounting  
 (Practice), Singapore Management  
 University
• Member, GST Board of Review

26.06.2018 26.06.2018 5/6

MR GANU SHAILESH ANAND (AGE 38) 

• Masters of Business Administration  
 (Australia)
• Bachelors of Engineering - Chemical  
 Engineering (India)
• Fellow, Singapore Institute of Directors

• Managing Director, Executive  
 Compensation Global Practice Leader,  
 Willis Towers Watson
• Non-Executive Director, Far East Orchard  
 Limited
• Executive Committee Member, Breast  
 Cancer Foundation Singapore

25.07.2019 25.07.2019 2/3

MR MICHAEL BUCHHOLZ (AGE 58) 

• Master of Arts in Communication  
 Management, University of South Australia
• International Business Management
 (Post Diploma) Certificate, Seneca College
• Certificate of Studies, University of Oslo
• Bachelor of Arts in International Relations,  
 University of Western Ontario

• Managing Director, Caldwell Richards
 Pte Ltd
• Associate Lecturer, University of  
 Wollongong
• Member, Rules Committee, The American  
 Club, Singapore

18.06.2015 20.06.2019 6/6

MR JOHN YONG TIONG HWEE (AGE 60) 

• Masters in Computer Science from the  
 University of Salford, United Kingdom

20.06.2019 20.06.2019 2/4

MS FANG EU-LIN (AGE 41) 

• Harvard Business School – Alumnus
• Bachelor of Commerce – Accounting and  
 Finance
• Practising member of the Institute of  
 Singapore Chartered Accountants

• Partner, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
• Governor – Tanglin Trust School 
• Board Member, Temasek Polytechnic
• Board member, Vanguard Healthcare
 Pte Ltd
• Board Member, Alpha Singapore 

26.06.2014 26.06.2018 6/6

MR DUMAS CHIN (AGE 55) 

• Bachelor of Engineering (Electrical), 
 First Class Honours

28.06.2012 26.06.2018 5/6

MR MATTHEW SAW (AGE 48) 

• MA, University of Cambridge

• Partner, Lee & Lee
• Adjudicator, Financial Industry Disputes  
 Resolution Centre Ltd
• Director, Healthserve Ltd

26.06.2014 26.06.2018 4/6

QUALIFICATIONS DATE FIRST
APPOINTED

DATE OF
LAST ELECTION
OF DIRECTOR

ATTENDANCE
AT BOARD

MEETINGS 2019

KEY DIRECTORSHIPS
& APPOINTMENTS

Note: Board of Directors:
 Ms Tan Peck Joo stepped down as a Board Director on 20 June 2019.
 Mr John Yong Tiong Hwee joined as Board Director on 20 June 2019. 
 Mr Ganu Shailesh Anand joined as Board Director on 25 July 2019.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONT’D)

• Member, Tech Advisory Panel,
 Singapore Pools
• Senior Fellow, Singapore Computer  
 Society (SCS)
• Senior Advisor, Nayang Technological  
 University (NTU)
• Adjunct, National University Singapore, (NUS)
• Adjunct, Singapore Institute of Technology  
 (SIT)
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ROLE OF THE BOARD
The Board’s primary role is to provide strategic direction 
to SATA CommHealth and monitor management’s 
performance. It ensures that resources are effectively 
and efficiently managed and that there are processes in 
place to ensure that SATA CommHealth complies with 
all applicable laws, rules and regulations, particularly 
our Constitution (amended up to 31 January 2019) and 
the Code. At the Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) 
on 31 January 2019, the Constitution was revised to 
reflect the shift in focus from prevention and treatment 
of tuberculosis to promotion of lifelong health in the 
community. 

At the annual Board Retreat, Board reviews the purpose, 
vision and mission, as well as strategies and plans for 
the next three to five years. A clear organisation design 

DIRECTORS’ DUTIES AND 
RESPONSIBILITIES
Directors are expected to be aware of their duties, 
demonstrate commitment in serving the organisation, 
and discharge their responsibilities with the highest 
standards of integrity. 

To provide guidance and clarity, the Board has adopted 
a Code of Conduct which all members have formally 
acknowledged. Directors are expected to use their best 
endeavours to attend at least 60% of Board meetings 
and to contribute constructively to Board discussions. 
In situations where directors were unable to attend 
meetings, they participated in decision-making through 
other means such as electronic communications, 
or otherwise provided assistance to the Board and 
management outside of Board meetings.

At the annual 
Board Retreat, 
Board reviews the 
purpose, vision and 
mission, as well as 
strategies and plans 
for the next three 
to five years. A clear 
organisation design 
is then documented 
for the Board and 
management.

is then documented for the Board and management. 

The Board ensures that the management has clear goals and objectives, 
which are tracked through a balanced scorecard (BSC) with Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs), and impact measurements for the CEO. 
These goals are cascaded to staff levels and the achievement of key goals 
is discussed at every Board meeting.

The day-to-day management of SATA CommHealth is delegated by the 
Board to the management headed by the CEO. Initiation of new activities, 
review or cessation of existing activities, major collaborations and 
significant transactions require the approval of the Board. 

The Board also reviews and approves the annual budget prepared by 
management.

GNC reviews the contributions of directors holistically whilst recommending 
them for re-appointment.

Directors are expected to declare their interests to avoid any actual or 
perceived conflict of interest. Where directors have personal interests in 
transactions or contracts that SATA CommHealth may enter into, or have 
vested interests in other organisations that SATA CommHealth has dealings 
with or is considering to enter into joint ventures with, they are expected 
to declare such interests to the Board as soon as possible and abstain 
from discussions and decision making on the matter. When such conflicts 
arise, the Board would evaluate whether any potential conflicts of interest 
would affect the continuing independence of directors and whether it is 
appropriate for the director to continue to remain on the Board.
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BOARD MEETINGS
A total of six Board meetings, one Annual General Meeting (AGM) and one 
Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) were held during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2019, as shown below:

Board meetings: 12 Feb 2019
 13 May 2019
 20 Jun 2019
 17 Aug 2019
 14 Nov 2019
 4 Dec 2019

EGM: 8 Jan 2019 
 31 Jan 2019  

AGM: 20 Jun 2019  

As necessary, the Board may hold additional meetings. The Board and CEO 
also participated in the annual retreat for strategic review on 17 Aug 2019.

APPOINTMENT, INDUCTION AND TRAINING
Upon appointment, all new directors attend an induction session 
conducted by the management. This gives them a good overview of the 
organisation’s programmes and services and their social impact on the 
community. A copy of the Handbook for Directors, which detailed roles and 
responsibilities, is also provided to new directors. In 2019, newly appointed 
directors attended an induction session at our Community Hub @ Fernvale 
and had an opportunity to interact with one of our community beneficiaries. 

Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training as needed so that they 
have sufficient knowledge relating to their responsibilities as directors. 
Directors may claim the training expenses as long as these expenses are 
pre-approved by the Board Chairman, and in the case of expenses to be 
incurred by the Board Chairman, by the GNC Chairman. In 2019, 6 directors 
attended various workshops/modules in areas such as Enterprise Risk 
Management, Fund-raising, Cybersecurity, Human Resources, Board & 
Management Dynamics.

INFORMATION FOR THE BOARD
Management provides the Board with information considered necessary 
by the Board in discharging its responsibilities. This information includes 
background and other explanatory information relating to matters brought 
before the Board, annual reports, budgets and summarised monthly 
management reports. Material variances between actual results and 
budgets/past results are highlighted during this process. 

The Board also proactively considers the types and presentation of 
information which best helps in discharging its responsibilities.
Additional information may be requested from the management 
as and when the need arises.

BOARD EVALUATION
The Board implemented the annual Board Evaluation exercise to actively 
examine board performance and to find ways to improve its effectiveness. 
All Board directors are given the opportunity to provide their feedback 
on collective performance, self and peer performance and feedback to 
Chairman. GNC reviews the results and where necessary, discusses 
interventions and makes recommendations to Board. In 2019, GNC 
reviewed the evaluation questionnaire to align it to Director’s Code of 
Conduct & SATA CommHealth Values & Behaviours.

COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS OF BOARD 
COMMITTEES
Board committees are established to assist the Board in making 
better decisions, and improve its oversight over management and its 
accountability to stakeholders. All Board committees have written Terms of 
Reference (TOR) which were approved by the Board. 

Chairman of all Board committees must be a Board director and appointed 
by the Board. Chairman of Board committees review the composition of the 
committee and recommend new potential members to GNC and Board for 
recommendation and approval respectively.

Authority delegated to any Board committee is made clear in the TOR of 
the Board committee. The CEO is an ex-officio member of the Board of 
Directors.

Minutes of Board committee meetings are provided to the Board. The table 
below shows the Board committees, their composition and members’ 
attendance in 2019.

WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY
SATA CommHealth has a whistleblower policy to allow staff, suppliers, 
contractors, partners and other stakeholders to raise concerns or to 
report malpractices and misconducts in the company. The policy aims 
to encourage the reporting of such matters in good faith, with the 
confidence that persons making such report will be treated fairly and with 
due follow-up action. All whistleblowing reports, including the identity 
of the whistleblower will be treated with confidentiality. There were 4 
whistleblowing reports in 2019.
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Tender
Tender Matters
were circulated

for the Committee’s
Approval

Dr Edward Yang
Ms Poh Mui Hoon
Mr Ang Hao Yao
Mr Matthew Saw
Mr Michael Buchholz
Ms Tan Peck Joo

Chairman  
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member (till 20 Jun 2019)

Medical 1/1
1/1
1/1
1/1
0/1
0/1
1/1

Dr Edward Yang
A/Prof Thomas Chee Swee Guan
Dr Lee Yeong Shyan
Dr Ian Leong
Dr Tan Chi Chiu
Dr Wei Ker-Chiah
Dr Lee Jer En

Chairman  
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member 
Member

Investment and Finance 4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
2/3
0/2
1/1

A/Prof Themin Suwardy
Mr Ang Hao Yao
Mr Dumas Chin
Mr Steven Seow
Dr Edward Yang
Ms Tan Peck Joo
Mr Stanley Sia

Chairman 
Member
Member
Member 
Member (since 12 Mar 2019)
Member (till 20 Jun 2019)
Member (till 12 Feb 2019)

Human Resources 5/5
4/5
2/5
4/5
2/2
3/3
2/3

Chairman 
Member  
Member  
Member 
Member (since 17 Aug 2019)
Member (till 8 July 2019)
Member (till 20 Jun 2019)

Mr Dumas Chin
Ms Theresa Goh
Mr Leonard Lee
Mr Shailesh Ganu
Mr Michael Buchholz
Mr Ang Hao Yao
Dr Edward Yang

Audit

Fund-raising

3/3
3/3
2/3
2/3
2/2

1/1
1/1
1/1

Ms Fang Eu-Lin
Mr Ang Hao Yao
Ms Cyndi Pei
Mr Stanley Sia
A/Prof Jason Yap

John Yong
Karen Wee
Suryahti Abdul Latiff

Chairman
Member
Member 
Member 
Member (till 20 Jun 2019)

Chairman (since 27 Sept 2019)
Member (since 23 Dec 2019)
Member (since 23 Dec 2019)

Digital 6/6
6/6
4/6
5/6
6/6
3/6
3/6

Ms Poh Mui Hoon
Mr Michael Buchholz
A/Prof Jason Yap
Mr Chua Teck Joo 
Ms Jenny Tan
Mr John Yong
Dr Joseph Mocanu

Chairman 
Member 
Member 
Member (since 14 Jan 2019)
Member (since 14 Jan 2019)
Member (since 14 Jan 2019)
Advisor

Governance and
Nominating

5/5
5/5
5/5
4/5
5/5

Mr Stanley Sia
Mr Matthew Saw
Ms Theresa Goh
Mr Ang Hao Yao
Dr Edward Yang

Chairman 
Member 
Member
Member
Member

COMMITTEE NAME DESIGNATION NUMBER OF
MEETINGS ATTENDED

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD COMMITTEES

Note:

Medical Committee was subsumed under Programme, Services & Medical Committee as of 20 June 2019.
Fund-raising Committee was set up on 27 September 2019
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RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board has the responsibility of effectively overseeing the organisation’s 
enterprise risk management (ERM) framework implemented in Q4 
2019 that it balances risks yet does not limit growth, performance and 
reputation. The Board reviews the overall adequacy and effectiveness of 
the internal control systems, including strategic, operational, financial, 
technological and compliance risks through our eight Board committees. 
This ensures potential risks are identified and managed effectively. 

The Audit Committee (AC) drives the risk assessment process and all 
committees highlight risks on a regular basis. For risks that are deemed 
substantial, a task force will be set up to closely monitor and manage 
the risk. This allows for full accountability and reporting of risks and its 
mitigation measures. New strategic projects and initiatives undergo a 
risk assessment, using scenario analysis and simulation techniques that 
must be pre-approved by the Programmes, Services & Medical Committee 
(PSMC) before it is reported to the Board for approval. 

Internal and statutory audits are conducted annually by external auditors. 
These audits highlight potential risks and are discussed at the AC and 
Board levels. In addition, internal checks and audits are also conducted 
by the Quality Department to ensure that expected quality and safety 
standards are met.

ERM also clearly defines structure, roles and responsibilities for the 
operationalisation and the oversight of associated risks. The roles and 
responsibilities are clearly outlined so that all members know their scope 
and roles in the overall risk management framework.

A. BOARD & AUDIT COMMITTEE (AC)
The Board assisted by the AC would provide overall guidance, insights and 
advice on all ERM matters. The ERM Framework would be validated by the 
AC and the Board to set the tone right at the top and reviewed on a periodic 
basis to ensure continued relevance to SATA CommHealth. 

B. SENIOR MANAGEMENT LED BY CEO
They provide guidance and direction on ERM and are responsible for 
compliance to the ERM policy and framework. They instil the right culture 
throughout SATA CommHealth for effective risk governance. Senior 
Management also ensures that relevant risks are properly identified, 
assessed, monitored and controlled by applying the appropriate mitigating 
measures. Management periodically updates on the ERM status to the AC, 
relevant Board committees and the Board. 

SUSTAINABILITY
SATA CommHealth is committed to sustainability and incorporates the 
key principles of environment, social and governance (ESG) in setting our 
practices and operations for long-term growth and financial sustainability. 

ENVIRONMENT: Going green is a corporate responsibility that we are 
taking more seriously with each year. 

In our efforts to promote sustainability, we have continued with our 
multiyear program of upgrading our aircons to Eco friendly inverter units at 
Chai Chee, Jurong and Ang Mo Kio. Conversion to LED lighting was done 
at Jurong. This will all help us towards becoming more energy efficient. 
We have also worked hand-in-hand with our tenant, Econ Nursing Home 

to grow vegetables organically. Their produce including bitter gourd, chilli 
and melon were grown at the roof garden and their harvest is now cooked 
in their kitchen and consumed by their residents. This helps promote the 
farm-to-table concept.

We have also gone into paperless billing. It not only improves efficiency but 
also reduces cost. It significantly reduces our environmental footprint.

SOCIAL: We are committed to the sustainability of our staff. We value our 
staff and focus on their well-being. We promote health and safety at work 
and encourage staff training through a multitude of programmes and 
activities. SATA CommHealth also encourages diversity in its workforce 
regardless of ethnicity, age or gender in an open work environment. We 
adopt consistent, equitable and fair labour practices in rewarding and 
developing our staff. 

GOVERNANCE: Our governance practices are based on integrity, fairness, 
transparency and responsibilities. When come to good governance, SATA 
CommHealth has shown the way and won the Charity Governance Awards. 
This award represents the highest honours for Charities in terms of 
governance. 

SATA CommHealth corporate compliance system comprises a 
comprehensive system of measures to ensure its operations is always 
carried in full accordance with the law as well with its internal principles 
and rules.

REPORTS OF BOARD COMMITTEES
GOVERNANCE AND NOMINATING COMMITTEE 
The Governance and Nominating Committee (GNC) assists the Board in 
fulfilling the Board’s responsibilities for corporate governance (including 
compliance with relevant corporate governance requirements prescribed 
by regulators and with SATA CommHealth’s Corporate Governance 
Guidelines).

In assisting the Board, the committee’s tasks include:
(i) To review, evaluate and recommend any needed changes to existing  
 policies and procedures for compliance with the Code of Governance  
 for Charities and IPCs;
(ii) To have oversight of SATA CommHealth’s Whistleblower and Conflict of  
 Interest policies;
(iii) To determine annually the independence of the Directors, bearing  
 in mind the circumstances set forth in SATA CommHealth’s Corporate  
 Governance Guidelines;
(iv) To make recommendations to the Board on all Board appointments  
 having regard to the Directors’ contributions and performance;
(v) To identify potential new Directors to fill any gaps in skills and  
 knowledge.
(vi) To have oversight and make recommendations on Chairman’s  
 succession process.

In 2019, the committee met five times. The GNC continued to oversee 
Board Evaluation in 2019 and reviewed the Governance Evaluation 
Checklist (GEC) for the Board’s approval prior to submission to the Charities 
Council. GEC gives the Board the opportunity to conduct an annual review 
of the governance practices of the organisation and to ensure adequacy 
and continued compliance with the Code.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE 
The Audit Committee (AC) is responsible for reviewing the scope and work 
of the internal auditor and the statutory auditor as well as the adequacy 
of internal controls. The committee was also tasked with the evaluation 
of recommendations made by the internal auditor and management 
responses.

Ernst & Young Advisory Pte. Ltd. continued to carry out the internal audit 
work till June 2019. The driving objectives of the internal audit programme 
are to strengthen internal controls, financial management and to improve 
overall operational efficiency and productivity. To achieve these objectives, 
the Committee worked closely with the internal auditor and management to 
implement the recommendations of the internal auditor. The internal auditor 
applied a risk-focused and process based approach for the audits.

The internal audit work done during 2019 covered the following areas:
• Revenue, Accounts Receivable and Collections
• Inventory Management
• Procurement to payments
• Patient Administration Services (two of the medical centres)
• Human Resource
• IT General Controls

KPMG LLP was appointed as statutory auditor for SATA CommHealth. 
The general approach and overall scope of the statutory audit was laid 
down in an audit planning document which was approved by the Audit 
Committee before conducting the audit in accordance with Singapore 
Standards on Auditing. We have adopted the policy of changing either the 
internal/statutory auditor or the audit partner in-charge every five years. 
Recommendations by the statutory auditor on improvement of system 
processes and controls are discussed and reviewed by the Committee. 

The committee met three times in the year 2019 to review the reports of 
the internal auditor, statutory auditor and the adoption and implementation 
of enhancements to the internal control systems and processes that were 
recommended by the internal and statutory auditors. 

The Audit Committee also reviewed the annual financial report to 
ensure the integrity of financial statements of the company and formal 
announcements relating to the company’s financial performance, in view 
of the latest developments in the areas of business ethics, corporate 
responsibilities and business continuity planning.

INVESTMENT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE 
The Investment and Finance Committee (IFC) is responsible for overseeing 
the performance of the Fund Manager, and reviewing SATA CommHealth’s 
financial performance and annual budget. The committee met four times 
in 2019 and reviewed the investment performance of the fund manager, 
financial performance and annual budget of the organisation. The IFC also 
discussed on the Reserve Policy, the level of reserves and discl osure in 
Annual Report and finance report. 

Credit Suisse has managed SATA CommHealth’s investment portfolio since 
April 2011 and their current agreement ends on 31 March 2020 (This has 
been renewed for another 3 years from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023)
under an Investment Management Agreement (“IMA”), which incorporates 
the Investment Policy Statement (“IPS”). The IPS lays out our investment 
objectives, strategies, asset allocation plans, allowable and prohibited 
transactions, as well as reporting and oversight procedures.

The IPS assists the Board, IFC and Management to make investment 
related decisions in an accountable and prudent manner. The key 
investment objectives of the fund are capital preservation with long-term 
stable growth achieved good returns and a prudent level of risk. In addition, 
our key investment strategy is to have a reasonable exposure to a wide 
range of investment opportunities in various asset classes, to achieve 
adequate diversification for the desired returns. SATA CommHealth’s 
portfolio return for 2019 was 11.8% net of management fee and trading 
fees. The investment returns for the year was $5.6 million. Since the 
inception of the current Investment Management Agreement with Credit 
Suisse, the cumulative return on investment was 35.10% or annualised 
return of 3.5%. SATA CommHealth withdrew $6.5 million for operational 
needs during the year. The portfolio value decreased from $50 million at 
the end of 2018 to $49 million at the end of 2019.

The IFC gave advice and guidance to the Board and management on 
finance and investment activities which include: Reserves, Financial 
Performance, New Projects Finance, Authorisation Limits, Standard 
Operating Procedures, Financial Reporting, Annual Budget, and Renewal of 
Investment Management Agreement (IMA) amongst others.

PROGRAMME, SERVICES & MEDICAL COMMITTEE 
The Programmes, Services and Medical Committee (PSMC) is set up 
to provide advice to the SATA CommHealth Management and Board on 
community programmes, social services, medical practices, standards, 
ethical, medico-legal and medico-social issues relevant to the organisation. 
The committee also advises management and the board on all social, 
community and medical aspects of operations, business development and 
strategies for growth of SATA CommHealth. 

As we transform SATA CommHealth focusing further on community health 
and serving the elderly, the committee will meticulously assess the benefit 
and impact of each of our community programmes such as Doctors-on-
wheels, Home care and Community Hub services. The committee will 
also periodically assess the feasibility of sustaining these programmes 
long-term. The committee will continue to monitor both clinical quality 
and governance closely to ensure that both policies and procedures are in 
place to provide the highest standard of patient care while also monitoring 
clinical quality standards based on feedback received from patients.
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TENDER COMMITTEE 
The Tender Committee (TC) has an oversight responsibility over the 
tendering process in SATA CommHealth as well as provides advice to 
the Board on tender policies and procedures to ensure the transparency, 
fairness and timelines of the tender process. The Committee also assists to 
identify key tender risks and suggests ways to mitigate these risks.

DIGITAL COMMITTEE 
The role of the Digital Committee is to provide the leadership and oversight 
in Information and Digital Technologies to ensure continued growth 
consistent with SATA CommHealth’s vision and mission. Besides digital 
strategy planning, the Digital Committee provides guidance on IT system 
enhancement, expert advice on Cybersecurity measures and identifies new 
digital transformation initiatives. The committee held six meetings in 2019.

Under the close guidance of the Digital Committee, the new CMS (Clinic 
Management System) was successfully implemented in December 2019.

FUNDRAISING COMMITTEE 
The Fund-raising Committee was incorporated to provide leadership 
and oversight necessary, so that SATA CommHealth is supported by the 
required fund-raising capabilities to ensure continued growth consistent 
with organisation’s vision and mission. 

Besides providing the necessary governance over the direction and ongoing 
progress of SATA CommHealth’s fund-raising strategy in full compliance 
with Institutions of a Public Character (IPCs) regulations, it also assumes 
the lead for fund-raising activities and makes recommendations to the 
Board with respect to the overall scope for its fund-raising strategy. SATA 
CommHealth is an approved IPC since 20 June 2019. 

As a start, SATA Commhealth aims to raise a net amount of $1 million in 
2020 to help offset the operational cost of our community work for the 
needy and elderly.   

HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE
The Human Resource Committee (HRC) oversees management‘s activities 
on strategic HR and people matters – such as talent management, learning 
and development, rewards and performance management, HR policies and 
procedures, and other related issues. 

The HRC held five meetings in 2019. Some significant HR activities over the 
past year included:
• Staff Competency Framework launched to bring the competencies of  
 staff to National Competency guidelines;
• Employee Engagement Survey carried out to understand employee  
 sentiment and areas for focus;
• Leadership’s development plan for the Management Team to enhance  
 leadership skills.

SATA CommHealth places a strong emphasis on people development, and 
staff are encouraged to attend trainings to enhance their skills so to bring 
quality service and competencies to their areas of work. The HRC works 
closely with management to help SATA CommHealth achieve its objectives 
of building a consumer centric and highly engaged workforce.

ANNUAL REMUNERATION DISCLOSURE
Under the revised Code of Charities and IPCs 2017, it is recommended 
that charities disclose the remuneration of the three highest paid staff who 
each received remuneration exceeding $100,000, in bands of $100,000. 
We have gone further by disclosing the five highest paid staff with 
remunerations above $100,000 in bands of $50,000. 

The remuneration in bands of the five highest paid staff are:

                                                          2018               2019 

$300,001 - $350,000                            0                  0                                          
$250,001 - $300,000                            3                  3                                                                                       
$200,001 - $250,000                            2                  2                                          
$150,001 - $200,000                            0                  0                                                                          

One of the above staff serves as an ex-officio in the Board; with no voting 
rights. 

SATA CommHealth has no paid staff, who are close members of the family 
of the CEO or Board, who each receives total remuneration of more than 
$50,000 during the year.  

The Board of Directors does not receive any fees for board services nor any 
other services rendered during the year.

TRANSFORMING COMMUNITY CARE TOGETHER •  ANNUAL REPORT 201916



SATA CommHealth CEO Dr Kelvin Phua (right) receiving the Charity Transparency Award from , Dr Gerard Ee, Chairman of Charity Council

CHARITY GOVERNANCE / 
CHARITY TRANSPARENCY AWARDS
SATA CommHealth was awarded the Charity 
Transparency Award from 2016 to 2019 and the Charity 
Governance Award in 2018. 

These awards affirmed our commitment to be effective, 
transparent and accountable to our stakeholders.

LOOKING AHEAD
SATA CommHealth is committed to achieving high 
standards of corporate governance and setting the 
right values from the very top, improving its long-term 
performance, managing its risks and maintaining 
internal controls. The Board and management will 
work together to adopt best practices relevant to 
the organisation and adhere to the principles and 
guidelines of the Code.

SATA CommHealth was awarded the Charity 
Transparency Award from 2016 to 2019 and the 
Charity Governance Award in 2018.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 • TRANSFORMING COMMUNITY CARE TOGETHER 17



7 1.1.13The charity discloses in its annual report the reasons 
for retaining the governing board member who 
has served for more than 10 consecutive years.

N/A

8 1.2.1There are documented terms of reference for the 
Board and each of its committees.

Complied

INTRODUCTION TO GEC
The Governance Evaluation Checklist (GEC) covers the key guidelines in the Code of Governance for Charities and IPCs (“the Code”). Charities should read 
the GEC in conjunction with the Code and consider all applicable principles and guidelines.

Governance Evaluation Checklist (Advanced Tier)
Please note that this checklist is based on the Code of Governance (2017).

1 1.1.2Induction and orientation are provided to incoming 
governing board members upon joining the Board.

Complied

2 1.1.3Staff does not chair the Board and does not 
comprise more than one third of the Board.

N/A

3 1.1.5There are written job descriptions for the staff’s 
executive functions and operational duties, which are 
distinct from the staff’s Board role.

N/A

4 1.1.7The Treasurer of the charity (or any person holding 
an equivalent position in the charity, e.g. Finance 
Committee Chairman or a governing board member 
responsible for overseeing the finances of the charity) 
can only serve a maximum of 4 consecutive 
years.

If the charity has not appointed any governing board 
member to oversee its finances, it will be presumed 
that the Chairman oversees the finances of the 
charity.

Complied

5 1.1.8All governing board members must submit 
themselves for re-nomination and re-appointment, 
at least once every 3 years.

Complied

6 1.1.12The Board conducts self evaluation to assess its 
performance and effectiveness once during its term 
or every 3 years, whichever is shorter.

Complied

Is there any governing board member who has 
served for more than 10 consecutive years?
(skip item 7 if “No”)

No

Are there governing board members holding staff 
appointments? (skip items 2 and 3 if “No”)

No

S/N CODE GUIDELINE CODE ID RESPONSE
(select whichever is applicable)

EXPLANATION
(if Code guideline is not complied with)

BOARD GOVERNANCE
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19 6.1.3The Board ensures that reviews on the charity’s 
internal controls, processes, key programmes and 
events are regularly conducted.

Complied

17 6.1.1There is a documented policy to seek the Board’s 
approval for any loans, donations, grants or financial 
assistance provided by the charity which are not part 
of the charity’s core charitable programmes.

Complied

18 6.1.2The Board ensures that internal controls for 
financial matters in key areas are in place with 
documented procedures.

Complied

9 2.1There are documented procedures for governing 
board members and staff to declare actual or 
potential conflicts of interest to the Board at the 
earliest opportunity.

Complied

10 2.4Governing board members do not vote or 
participate in decision making on matters where 
they have a conflict of interest.

Complied

11 3.2.2The Board periodically reviews and approves 
the strategic plan for the charity to ensure that 
the charity’s activities are in line with the charity’s 
objectives.

Complied

12 3.2.4There is a documented plan to develop the capacity 
and capability of the charity and the Board monitors 
the progress of the plan.

Complied

13 5.1The Board approves documented human resource 
policies for staff.

Complied

14 5.3There is a documented Code of Conduct for 
governing board members, staff and volunteers 
(where applicable) which is approved by the Board.

Complied

15 5.5There are processes for regular supervision, appraisal 
and professional development of staff.

Complied

16 5.7There are volunteer management policies in place 
for volunteers.

Complied

Are there volunteers serving in the charity?
(skip item 16 if “No”)

Yes

S/N CODE GUIDELINE CODE ID RESPONSE
(select whichever is applicable)

EXPLANATION
(if Code guideline is not complied with)

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

STRATEGIC PLANNING

HUMAN RESOURCE AND VOLUNTEER MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
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28 2.2No staff is involved in setting his own remuneration. Complied

20 6.1.4The Board ensures that there is a process to identify, 
and regularly monitor and review the charity’s key 
risks.

Complied

21 6.2.1The Board approves an annual budget for the 
charity’s plans and regularly monitors the charity’s 
expenditure.

Complied

22 6.4.3The charity has a documented investment policy 
approved by the Board.

Complied

Does the charity invest its reserves (e.g. in fixed 
deposits)? (skip item 22 if “No”)

Yes

Did the charity receive cash donations (solicited 
or unsolicited) during the financial year?
(skip item 23 if “No”)

Yes

Did the charity receive donations in kind during 
the financial year? (skip item 24 if “No”)

No

Are governing board members remunerated for 
their services to the Board? (skip items 26 and 
27 if “No”)

No

23 7.2.2All collections received (solicited or unsolicited) are 
properly accounted for and promptly deposited by 
the charity.

Complied

24 7.2.3All donations in kind received are properly recorded 
and accounted for by the charity.

N/A

25 8.2The charity discloses in its annual report —
(a) the number of Board meetings in the financial  
 year; and
(b) the attendance of every governing board   
 member at those meetings.

Complied

26 2.2No governing board member is involved in setting his 
own remuneration.

N/A

Does the charity employ paid staff? (skip items 
28, 29 and 30 if “No”)

Yes

27 8.3The charity discloses the exact remuneration and 
benefits received by each governing board member 
in its annual report.
OR
The charity discloses that no governing board 
member is remunerated.

N/A

S/N CODE GUIDELINE CODE ID RESPONSE
(select whichever is applicable)

EXPLANATION
(if Code guideline is not complied with)

FUND-RAISING PRACTICES

DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY
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29 8.4The charity discloses in its annual report –
(a)  the total annual remuneration for each of  
 its 3 highest paid staff who each has received  
 remuneration (including remuneration received  
 from the charity’s subsidiaries) exceeding  
 $100,000 during the financial year; and
(b)  whether any of the 3 highest paid staff also  
 serves as a governing board member of the  
 charity.

The information relating to the remuneration of the 
staff must be presented in bands of $100,000.
OR
The charity discloses that none of its paid staff 
receives more than $100,000 each in annual 
remuneration.

Complied

30 8.5The charity discloses the number of paid staff who 
satisfies all of the following criteria:
(a) the staff is a close member of the family 
 belonging to the Executive Head or a governing  
 board member of the charity;
(b) the staff has received remuneration exceeding  
 $50,000 during the financial year.

The information relating to the remuneration of the 
staff must be presented in bands of $100,000.
OR
The charity discloses that there is no paid staff, 
being a close member of the family belonging to the 
Executive Head or a governing board member of the 
charity, who has received remuneration exceeding 
$50,000 during the financial year.

Complied

31 9.2The charity has a documented communication 
policy on the release of information about the charity 
and its activities across all media platforms.

Complied

S/N CODE GUIDELINE CODE ID RESPONSE
(select whichever is applicable)

EXPLANATION
(if Code guideline is not complied with)

PUBLIC IMAGE
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MANAGEMENT
TEAM

MR DENSON 
JOSEPH 
Assistant Director, 
Fund-raising 
And Strategic 
Partnerships

MR EDMUND
KHOO
Assistant Director, 
Community Events

MS CATHERINE 
NG 
Head of Human 
Resources,
Deputy Director

MR CHIA BOON 
KHIANG 
Head of Strategic 
Partnerships 
And Branding,  
Director

MR ONG SING
Head of 
Information 
Technology, 
Deputy Director

DR KELVIN PHUA 
Chief Executive 
Officer
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MR TAN
KEE GUAN
Chief Operating 
Officer

MR LUM HEAN 
CHOONG
Assistant Director, 
Facility
Management

DR CHERYL 
LATHA GLENN 
Medical Director

MS SANDRA 
CHAN
Head of
Community Nursing 
(Homecare) And 
Procurement, 
Deputy Director

MR SUGUMARAN 
S/O 
SUBRAMANYAM
Head of Operations, 
Deputy Director

MR SHERMAN
CHAN 
Head of 
Community
Programmes,
Deputy Director

DR FAZLULLAH 
SHAIK MOHIDEEN 
Head of Quality
And Innovation, 
Deputy Director
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We have been scaling up our 
Community Services to meet 
the needs of the vulnerable 
and the elderly who are 
disadvantaged in Singapore. 
The ageing population and the consequent increase 
in chronic ailments posed a major concern among 
healthcare providers in recent times. We are therefore 
looking at different ways of innovating care to enrich 
the lives of the community we serve. 

In 2019, we spent more than $180,000 on a broad 
range of services at various community events 
including preventive health screenings, health 
education and promotion, medical care, financial 
assistance schemes and the Doctors-On-Wheels 
programme. Our resources were utilised for 33,046 
patient visits/community interactions.

PREVENTIVE HEALTH
In keeping with our mission of promoting lifelong
health in the community, we have been collaborating 

Community Services staff assisting members of the public on LPA and ACP forms

with community clubs, grassroots organisations, 
religious and community based organisations, as well 
as other voluntary welfare organisations (VWOs) to offer 
preventive health screenings for their beneficiaries and 
staff at regular intervals.

IN YEAR 2019:

WE SPENT MORE THAN

$180,000

33,046

ON A BROAD RANGE OF 
SERVICES AT COMMUNITY 
EVENTS.

OUR RESOURCES WERE 
UTILISED FOR 

PATIENT VISITS/COMMUNITY 
INTERACTIONS
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In line with our mission of promoting lifelong health, serving the 
community, we also reached out to the public through four Community 
Health Days (CHDs) held at our medical centres and community hub:

 LOCATION DATE

 SATA CommHealth Bedok (Uttamram) Medical Centre 6 April 2019

 SATA CommHealth Community Hub @ Fernvale 30 June 2019

 SATA CommHealth Boon Lay Medical Centre 5 October 2019

 SATA CommHealth Potong Pasir Medical Centre 19 October 2019

Free and heavily subsidised health screening and education were provided 
to the participants with the help of our doctors, nurses and other staff during 
the CHDs. Almost 600 people benefitted from these events.

Our Mobile Medical Services, with a fleet of three x-ray buses and a 
Mammo-On-Wheels bus, continued to uphold SATA CommHealth’s tradition 
of reaching out to the community at large. Our vehicles are fitted with 
patient-friendly fittings like wheelchair-lifts to benefit the disadvantaged 
elderly and patients with poor mobility. 

In order to accord hassle free services through our mobile medical services 
and medical centres, we have issued our community beneficiaries with the 
SATA CommHealth Blue Healthy Life Card. This group also includes needy 
students and their immediate family members. A total of 5,645 unique 
beneficiaries enjoyed free or heavily subsidised medical consultation and 
medication in 2019. 

DOCTORS-ON-WHEELS (DOW)

The Doctors-On-Wheels programme is a community initiative that provides 
free and subsidised treatment to needy elderly beneficiaries living in 1, 2 
and 3-room HDB flats. The DOW programme is operated from a specially 
equipped van, which brings the necessary equipment and medication 
to different parts of Singapore, where these beneficiaries reside. The 
DOW programme operates from Tuesdays to Fridays every week, to treat 
acute and chronic ailments, as well as provide some health education to 
the needy elderly in the community. This service is currently utilised by 
30 Senior Activity Centres and Homes for the Aged, where 787 unique 
beneficiaries were served during 2,349 patient visits in 2019.

As an extension of our DOW programme, we help the frail and elderly with 
musculoskeletal and neurological problems, with referrals to therapists at 
our Day Rehabilitation Centres.

One of the age-related ailments afflicting the elderly is osteoporosis. The 
Community Services Department also offers Bone Mineral Densitometry 
screening using our DEXA Scan system. After an assessment for suitability, 
beneficiaries interested in taking up our service are transported to our 
medical centre for their DEXA Scan. After the scanning, these elderly 
are given appropriate follow-up advice on their results or referred to an 
orthopaedic surgeon for treatment if necessary.

DOW team at a nursing home providing health care services to the residents
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HEALTH EDUCATION

Health Education is an important facet of our community services. We have 
been providing health education programmes to schools to reach out to 
the students. We believe that health education programme in schools is an 
effective strategy to prevent major health and social problems, as schools 
can play a major role in students’ health related behaviours.

Structured smoking prevention programmes, consisting of talks at school 
assemblies and smoking intervention workshops (under the ‘I-Dare’ 
programme) as well as smoke-free exhibitions, were carried out to 
educate both primary and secondary students to adopt healthy smoke-free 
lifestyles. The schools health education programme, which reached out to 
almost 40,000 students in 2019, is a major Community Events initiative of 
SATA CommHealth.

In the last few years, we also initiated the Smoke-Free Ambassadors 
programme for uniformed groups. Almost 100 students from the Boys’ 
Brigade Singapore attended four separate half-day training camps during 
the school holidays. After the training, these students took a pledge not to 
smoke and received a Smoke-Free Ambassador badge. The feedback from 
these sessions were positive as participants enjoyed the interactive style 
of learning, which was reinforced through fun and games facilitated by our 
team. 

An elderly speaking to a doctor during a DOW session
Staff helping an elderly walking down the slope at a community event at Potong 
Pasir Medical Centre

IN YEAR 2019:

A TOTAL OF 

DOW IS UTILISED BY 30 SENIOR 
ACTIVITY CENTRES AND 
HOMES FOR THE AGED, WHERE 

5,645

787

40,000

BENEFICIARIES ENJOYED FREE 
OR HEAVILY SUBSIDISED MEDICAL 
CONSULTATION AND MEDICATION

BENEFICIARIES 
WERE SERVED

THE SCHOOLS HEALTH 
EDUCATION PROGRAMME 
REACHED OUT TO ALMOST

STUDENTS
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An Assistant Nurse Clinician cleaning a patient’s wound at his home

DOT & SHOP PROGRAMME

Tuberculosis (TB) was a major health problem that threatened and afflicted 
the population in post-war Singapore. With the falling incidence of TB over 
the past few decades, we have adopted an advocacy role to raise public 
awareness of the disease.

We have also strengthened our existing partnership with the TB Control 
Unit (TBCU) of Tan Tock Seng Hospital (TTSH) in the fight against TB, with 
the continued sponsorship of the DOT & SHOP programme in 2019. This 
programme is aimed at encouraging the lower income TB patients who are 
under the Directly Observed Therapy (DOT) programme to complete their 
therapy. The duration of the therapy is usually between six to nine months 
and longer if they contract drug-resistant TB. SATA CommHealth provides a 
total of $100,000 worth of supermarket shopping vouchers to those on the 
DOT programme managed by the TTSH Community Fund, upon successful 
completion of their drug therapy. The vouchers which will serve as 
incentives to these patients are given out upon completion of their therapy 
without missing their antibiotic doses.
 
LOOKING FORWARD

SATA CommHealth plans to expand its services to different parts of 
Singapore, which includes: 1. Integrated Health and social care services 
for the elderly; 2. Educational and prevention programmes; and 3. Primary 
care services for the community, where there are unmet needs in the 
area of community services. Our medical centres are used as hubs for our 
services to the community, especially to the disadvantaged. We are also 
keen to collaborate with like-minded organisations to form partnerships to 
provide integrated care to the community.

We will continue to build on our reputation to promote lifelong health in the 
community. In order to achieve this aim, we will not rest on our laurels, but 
continue to seek opportunities to grow our services through capacity and 
capability building, to serve the community better in the coming years.

Our unique social enterprise-cum-charity model and our focus on 
community health have enabled us to build a sustainable Community 
Events programme, in keeping with our mission of “Promoting lifelong 
health, serving the community”. We will continue to build on our successes, 
to serve the community even more in the years ahead.

HOMECARE

SATA CommHealth Homecare Services has been operating for 7 years 
meeting the needs of home-bound clients, minimising institutionalised 
community care and hospital readmissions. 

We started Home Personal Care in 2019 and collaborated with Daughters of 
Tomorrow, a Voluntary Welfare Organisation that facilitates underprivileged 
women to gain employment, to hire their beneficiaries for the SATA 
CommHealth programme. 

Besides being trained for First Aid and Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation 
(CPR), our Registered Nurse provides On-the-Job training to ensure person-
centred care is delivered to our clients holistically. Under this programme, 
we served 40 clients in 2019. This programme serves to benefit lower 
income seniors who may need help in their Activities of Daily Living (ADL) 
and at the same time, provide employment and healthcare knowledge to 
the underprivileged in the society.

We increased our full-time local Registered Nurses to 8 and 1 local Senior 
Enrolled Nurse. We have another 2 locally Registered Nurses who are from 
traditional source. With these 11 Nurses and our Doctors from the medical 
centres, we increased our visits from 3,327 in 2018 to 5,857 in 2019. We 
served more than 690 clients in the same year.

SATA CommHealth has continually been committed to help the needy, 
vulnerable seniors throughout the years using our Health Endowment 
Fund (HEF) and this year is of no exception. We have increased our social 
care by hiring a Medical Social Worker to handle all social issues in SATA 
CommHealth.

SATA COMMHEALTH
PROVIDES A TOTAL OF

$100,000
WORTH OF SUPERMARKET 

SHOPPING VOUCHERS TO THOSE 
ON THE DOT PROGRAMME 
MANAGED BY THE TTSH 

COMMUNITY FUND
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DAY REHABILITATION CENTRE

The Staff of SATA CommHealth Day Rehabilitation Centres (DRC) attended 
to 820 Unique Beneficiaries and a total of 6,695 episodes across the 3 
DRCs in 2019. The DRC saw an increase of 34% in rehab episodes and the 
increase in productivity can be attributed to the rolling out of new initiatives 
ie. community reintegration, home-based therapy services, cognitive 
retraining, pain management services and caregiver training. 

In 2020, the DRC will have 4 main areas of focus. Firstly, to expand the 
DRC floor area and ramp up the productivity. Secondly, to review existing 
services to ensure that they are relevant to the needs of the people we 
serve, as well as to identify and plug service gaps. Thirdly, the team will 
bring in new rehabilitation equipment and introduce new interventions. 
In order to achieve all these goals, SATA CommHealth will continue to 
invest in staff training, so that we can deliver a higher level of care to our 
clients. Last but not the least, SATA CommHealth will expand our effort in 
nurturing the next generation of therapists through our collaboration with 
the Singapore Institute of Technology via student attachment, assigning our 
therapists to be adjunct lecturers, engagement in community projects etc. 

A patient exercising with the assistance of a therapist assistant. A recreation session with senior residents of Fernvale in the Community Hub.

COMMUNITY HUB AT FERNVALE 

An initiative by SATA CommHealth, the community hub was officially 
launched in June 2019. The objective of the community hub is to provide 
a “One-Stop” service centre offering a suite of health (Disease prevention 
and management) and social services to the residents of Fernvale with 
comprehensive primary healthcare services, especially the needy elderly 
patients residing mainly in 1 and 2-room HDB rented flats. 

In 2019, the community hub served 1,479 unique beneficiaries and 
provided 9,871 episodes of care service. The range of services available at 
the Community Hub are:

a. Medical Consultation
b. Diagnostic Imagery  
 (e.g. X-Ray; DRP)

c. Rehabilitation 
d. Home Medical
e. Home Nursing

a. Morning exercises
b. Health monitoring and  
 coaching
c. Home and Centre  
 based personal care
d. Medical Escort
e. Laundry 
f. Befriending

g. Centre based social  
 and recreational  
 activities
h. Information and  
 referral
i. Health and financial  
 literacy workshops 

HEALTH 
SERVICES

SOCIAL 
SERVICES
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With the ever growing and changing needs, the 
community hub will continue adopting a customer-
centric approach to design and develop services to 
meet the needs of the residents and leverage on 
inter-agency (e.g. Restructured Hospital, Grassroots 
Organisation, Community Partners etc.) collaborations 
to plug any service gaps. One such collaboration is 
with Sengkang Health (SKH) to launch the Frailty and 
Geriatric assessment and intervention programme.  
A group of 25 seniors living in the Fernvale area 
participated in this frailty screening programme which 
was jointly managed by SKH and SATA CommHealth 
care staff.  

In 2020, the Community Hub will have 3 main focus 
areas. Firstly, to strengthen the collaboration with 
community partners, to bring in the services that the 
residents require and to support our partners with 
our services. Secondly, to review existing services to 
ensure that they are relevant to the needs of the people 
we serve, as well as to identify and plug service gaps.  
Thirdly, to evaluate the impact the Community Hub 
brings about through the suite of services.

Mr Gan Thiam Poh, MP for Ang Mo Kio GRC, speaking to SATA CommHealth Board and Management in Community Hub @ Fernvale

INSTITUTIONS OF A PUBLIC 
CHARACTER (IPCs)

SATA CommHealth was approved as an Institution of 
Public Character (IPC) under the Charities Act (Cap.37) 
for 1 year with effect from 20 June 2019 to 19 June 
2020. As an approved IPC, SATA CommHealth is 
allowed to solicit funds from the public to pursue its 
worthy causes and donors are given tax-deductions for 
their donations. 

Donations will help us sustain and extend our medical 
care and charitable programmes for the needy and 
elderly in our community.

THE STAFF OF SATA 
COMMHEALTH DAY 
REHABILITATION CENTRES 
ATTENDED TO

THE COMMUNITY HUB SERVED

820

1,479

AND A TOTAL OF 6,695 
EPISODES ACROSS THE 3 DRCS

UNIQUE BENEFICIARIES AND 
PROVIDED 9,871 EPISODES 
OF CARE SERVICE

BENEFICIARIES
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SERVING THE



SATA CommHealth works
with more than 1,500 partners 
in the community and private 
sectors to provide trusted, 
reliable medical and allied 
health services.
It does this with a dedicated team of doctors, nurses, 
radiologists, physiotherapists and occupational 
therapists, corporate and administrative staff to provide 
quality care to more than 258,000 clients through its 
eight medical centres and mobile services team.

The medical centres saw a 0.25% increase in volume 
as the clinic revitalised itself with highly targeted health 
screening packages for seniors and adults, including 
the start of home health screening services. Corporate 
onsite events saw more than 22,600 patients served. 
These services generated more than $15.8 million 
in revenue across both medical centres and mobile 
services.

Customers waiting for registration at Boon Lay Medical Centre

E-visa screenings continued to be a strong revenue 
stream, as 5,700 clients walked through the appointed 
e-visa clinics; SATA CommHealth Uttamram Medical 
Centre and SATA CommHealth Ang Mo Kio Medical 
Centre. Both strategically-located medical centres 
support foreign embassy partners in their health 
screening requirements for travellers. 

IN YEAR 2019:

PROVIDE QUALITY
CARE TO MORE THAN

CORPORATE ONSITE EVENTS 
GENERATED MORE THAN

E-VISA SCREENINGS SERVED 

258,000

$15.8M

5,700

CLIENTS

IN REVENUE ACROSS

CLIENTS
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SATA CommHealth also extended the range of 
services in other medical centres. In particular, SATA 
CommHealth Potong Pasir Medical Centre now offers 
Bone Mineral Density (BMD) screening. This test 
provides a snapshot of our clients’ bone health, helping 
clients to understand their risk for fractures and likely 
response to osteoporosis treatment. Close to 600 
clients have benefitted from this screening.

To look after the increasing senior population, SATA 
CommHealth rolled out several initiatives to support 
their health, including highly-subsidised BMD 
screening, Mammogram screenings and vaccinations. 

SATA CommHealth also rolled out Advance Care 
Planning (ACP) Community Nodes to four medical 
centres, enabling more than 15 staff with ACP 
Facilitation skills. Over the year, it has reached out to 
more than 1,000 members of public through events 
focused on ACP and Lasting Power of Attorney (LPA) 
conversations with their family and caregivers. 

SATA CommHealth radiographer assisting a patient for a mammogram scan Radiographers preparing a lady for her chest x-ray

Functional screenings continued to be a cornerstone 
of our mobile services team, with 131 events to serve 
the seniors.

CLOSE TO 600 CLIENTS
HAVE BENEFITTED FROM

OVER THE YEAR, ADVANCE
CARE PLANNING (ACP) HAS
REACHED OUT MORE THAN 

BONE MINERAL 
DENSITY (BMD)

1,000

SCREENING

MEMBERS OF PUBLIC 
THROUGH EVENTS

THE NEW SYSTEM, CLINIC 
ASSIST SYSTEM (CAS), 
REPLACES THE OUTDATED 
AGEING MEDICAL INFORMATION 
SYSTEM THAT HAS BEEN IN 
SERVICE SINCE 2009.
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
NEW ENTERPRISE CLINIC MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
With the full support of the Digital Committee (DC) and Management 
team, a new CMS (Clinic Management System) was successfully 
implemented within one year, based on the SaaS (Software as a Service) 
model. The new system, Clinic Assist System (CAS), replaces the 
outdated ageing Medical Information system that has been in service 
since 2009. 

Besides lower maintenance cost and enhanced security, the new CAS 
system is fully integrated with the Ministry of Health (MOH) Smart Clinic 
Management System (SMartCMS) and can be linked to the National 
Electronic Health Record (NEHR) when it is ready. These platforms allow 
SATA CommHealth to perform claims and clinical data submissions 
with MOH systems electronically, thereby reducing manpower cost and 
improving operational efficiency.

With the new platform in place, the Management team can now look 
forward to introducing many new services such as Tele-Consultation, 
Patient Apps, Corporate portal and Electronic payment to further enhance 
our services to our patients.

Two frontline staff studying data on the computer

CYBERSECURITY AND ISO CERTIFICATION
Cybersecurity has a significant impact in Information Technology 
in 2019. A cybersecurity consultant was engaged to carry out a 
comprehensive risk assessment of SATA CommHealth’s current business 
IT security architecture. The main scope of work is the review of IT 
policies and procedures, identify insecure network configurations, 
application vulnerabilities and security gaps that could compromise the 
confidentiality of patients’ data.

Several IT systems, such as the Call Centres, Intranet and file servers 
have been upgraded. New enhanced security features are also introduced 
to strengthen the IT network from potential cyberattacks. 
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FACILITIES MANAGEMENT
2019 was another busy year for Facilities Management 
as new initiatives were rolled out for the medical 
centres and Community Projects and other services. 
2 landmark projects, the Community Hub @Fernvale 
and SATA CommHealth Medical Centre (Boon Lay) 
began operations in the first quarter of 2019 and had 
their official opening ceremonies shortly thereafter. 
Unlike previous opening ceremonies, there were added 
events of functional screening at the Fernvale opening 
and a carnival at the Boon Lay opening. Facilities 
Management provided the necessary infrastructural 
support.

New X-ray machines were installed at SATA 
CommHealth Jurong, Woodlands and Ang Mo Kio 
Medical Centres and Bone Mineral Density (BMD) 
machines at Potong Pasir and Boon Lay Medical 
Centres. Room preparation and refurbishment 
were undertaken by Facilities Management before 
installation of these machines. In line with our 
rebranding exercise, signages at all our medical 
centres were upgraded to give them a common look 
and feel.

Addition and alteration works were also undertaken at 
our older medical centres to refresh and upgrade their 
looks. These include lift upgrading, waterproofing and 
new office space at Chai Chee; internal signage, MRO, 
Doctor and pantry rooms and staff lockers at Jurong 
Medical Centre; and additional storage cabinets at 
Tampines Medical Centre.

In our efforts to promote sustainability, we continued  
our multiyear program of upgrading our aircons to eco 
friendly inverter units at Chai Chee, Jurong and Ang 
Mo Kio Medical Centres. Conversion to LED lighting 
was done at Jurong Medical Centre. This will all help 
us become more energy efficient. We also worked 
hand-in-hand with our tenant, Econ Nursing Home to 
grow vegetables organically. Their 
produce – including bitter gourd, 
chilli and melon – were grown 
at the roof garden; their harvest 
is now cooked in their kitchen 
and eaten by their residents. This 
helps promote the farm-to-table 
concept.

An elderly waiting for her height measurement to be taken A staff nurse administering vaccine on the arm of a member of the public

In 2020, we expect 
further growth 
in the areas of 
Community 
Services and 
Homecare to serve 
more beneficiaries 
and Facilities 
Management is 
all geared up to 
support them.
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SUSTAINABLE



JECHC

FERNVALE

UNIQUE 
BENEFICIARIES

HOMECARE SERVICES 

JURONG EAST COMMUNITY 
HEALTH CENTRE (JECHC)

THERAPY (DRC)

582

876

521

5,857

2,366

4,949

UNIQUE 
BENEFICIARIES:

UNIQUE 
BENEFICIARIES:

UNIQUE 
BENEFICIARIES:

EPISODES:

COMMUNITY EVENTS 

25,052
25,052

UNIQUE 
BENEFICIARIES:

EPISODES:

EPISODES:

GRAND
TOTAL

42,932
63,821

UNIQUE 
BENEFICIARIES:

EPISODES:

EPISODES:

DOCTORS-ON-WHEELS

787
2,349

UNIQUE 
BENEFICIARIES:

EPISODES:

FUNCTIONAL SCREENING

7,732
7,732

UNIQUE 
BENEFICIARIES:

EPISODES:

MEDICAL CENTRE
(SUBSIDISED CARE)

5,645
5,645

UNIQUE 
BENEFICIARIES:

EPISODES:

FERNVALE

1,469
9,871

UNIQUE 
BENEFICIARIES:

EPISODES:
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GENERAL X-RAY 

12,51112,267
6.56%6.80%

VOLUME

% DISTRIBUTION 

CHEST X-RAY 

165,888 156,058
86.98%86.51%

VOLUME

% DISTRIBUTION 

MAMMOGRAM 

3,274 2,769 
1.72%1.53%

VOLUME

% DISTRIBUTION 

ECHOCARDIOGRAM 

6553 
0.03%0.03%

VOLUME

% DISTRIBUTION 

ULTRASOUND 

7,159 7,304 
3.75%4.05%

VOLUME

% DISTRIBUTION 

BONE MINERAL 
DENSITOMETRY 

1,814 

190,711

1,950 

180,401  

0.95%

100%

1.08%

100%

VOLUME

VOLUME

% DISTRIBUTION 

% DISTRIBUTION 

DIAGNOSTIC
IMAGING

2019 2018 VOLUME CHANGE

GRAND
TOTAL

-1.95%

-5.93%

-18.46%

-15.42%

-5.41%

2.03%

7.50%
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CONSULTATIONS AND HEALTH SCREENING

General
Consultation

8,488
9,616

Specialist 
Consultation

Visa
Consultation

Medical
Check-Ups

Comprehensive 
Health Screening

Pap Smear & Liquid 
Based Cytology
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0 8,000

171

475

3,024

5,219

141

2,566

187

273
333

236

3,319

7,261

240

4,493

434

Volumn

Measles,
Mumps & Rubella

Others (Mantoux,
H1N1, Hep AB etc)

3,751
6,427

4,304
6,983

20192018
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We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 
31 December 2019.

In our opinion:

(a) the financial statements set out on pages 45 to 77 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as  
 at 31 December 2019 and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on that date in  
 accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations (“the  
 Charities Act and Regulations”) and the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

Directors
The directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Ms Theresa Goh Cheng Keow (Chairman)
A/Prof Jason Yap Chin Huat (Vice-Chairman)
Mr Stanley Sia Swie Kean (Vice-Chairman)
Ms Poh Mui Hoon 
Mr Dumas Chin Yi-Jiunn 
Ms Fang Eu-Lin 
Dr Edward Yang Tuck Loong 
Mr Matthew Saw Seang Kuan 
Mr Michael Richard Buchholz 
A/Prof Themin Suwardy 
Mr John Yong (appointed on 20/6/2019)
Mr Shailesh Ganu (appointed on 25/7/2019)

Directors’ interests
The Company is limited by guarantee and has no share capital and debentures.

Share options
The Company is limited by guarantee. As such, there are no share options or unissued shares under option.

Auditors
The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Ms Theresa Goh Cheng Keow
Chairman

11 May 2020

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 

A/Prof Themin Suwardy
Director
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Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of SATA CommHealth (“the Company”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2019, the statement of financial activities, statement of changes in accumulated fund and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 45 to 77.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (“the 
Companies Act”), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations (“the Charities Act and Regulations”), and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards (“FRSs”) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and of the financial performance, 
changes in accumulated fund and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the ‘Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with 
the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA 
Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report. Other information is defined as all information in the annual report 
other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

We have obtained all other information prior to the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, the Charities Act and Regulations and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that 
they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance comprises the directors. Their responsibilities include overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
Members of the Company
SATA CommHealth
(Limited By Guarantee And Not Having A Share Capital)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
Members of the Company
SATA CommHealth
(Limited By Guarantee And Not Having A Share Capital)

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit  
 procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not   
 detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional  
 omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

• Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but  
 not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by  
 management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether  
 a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial  
 statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of  
 our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements  
 represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controls that we identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required to be kept by the Company have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, and the Charities Act and Regulations.

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during the year:

(a) the Company has not used the donation moneys in accordance with its objectives as required under Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a  
 Public Character) Regulations; and

(b) the Company has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
11 May 2020
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

 Note 2019  2018

  $  $

ASSETS   

Non-current asset   

Property, plant and equipment 4 17,310,569 13,049,404

Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,212,503 2,472,711

Trade and other receivables 6 2,030,469 1,670,752

Inventories 7 132,021 72,131

Prepayments  51,028 16,738

Investments 8 49,154,330 50,038,764

  52,580,351 54,271,096

   

Total assets  69,890,920 67,320,500

   

FUND AND LIABILITIES   

Fund   

Accumulated fund 9 61,128,924 62,931,789

Total fund  61,128,924 62,931,789

   

Non-current liability   

Lease liabilities 10 3,329,651 –

  3,329,651 –

   

Current liabilities   

Deferred revenue  118 28,980

Lease liabilities 10 855,704 –

Other liabilities 11 51,446 93,679

Provision for reinstatement cost 12 234,094 106,318

Trade and other payables 13 4,290,983 4,159,734

  5,432,345 4,388,711

   

Total liabilities  8,761,996 4,388,711

   

Total fund and liabilities  69,890,920 67,320,500

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

 Note 2019  2018

  $  $

INCOMING RESOURCES   

Voluntary income   

Donations 14 20,986 2,134

Grants 15 743,350 770,590

Charitable income   

Income from community outreach activities  1,565,062 870,284

   

Funds generating activities   

Clinical, diagnostic imaging and laboratory services fees  15,399,462 14,853,128

Interest and dividend income 16 1,485,817 1,643,261

Rental income 22 680,928 673,766

Other income 17 31,860 500

Total incoming resources  19,927,465 18,813,663

   

RESOURCES EXPENDED   

Cost of generating funds   

Clinical, diagnostic imaging and laboratory services expenses 18 13,573,595 12,429,449

Investment management fees  89,075 94,243

Resources expended for charitable activities   

Operating expenses 19 6,363,956 4,405,054

   

Administrative expenses   

Administrative expenses 20 5,983,119 5,569,989

   

Total resources expended  26,009,745 22,498,735

   

NET DEFICIT BEFORE OTHER RECOGNISED GAINS/(LOSSES)   (6,082,280) (3,685,072)

   

OTHER RECOGNISED GAINS/(LOSSES)   

Gains/(losses) on disposals of financial instruments  891,615 (329,657)

Fair value gains/(losses) on financial instruments  3,338,223 (3,140,852)

Foreign exchange translation gains/(losses)  49,577 (527,234)

Total other recognised gains/(losses)  4,279,415 (3,997,743)

   

NET DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR  (1,802,865) (7,682,815)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN
ACCUMULATED FUND 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

  2019  2018

  $  $

Current year:   

Balance at beginning of the year  62,931,789 70,614,604

Movements in fund:  

Net deficit for the year  (1,802,865) (7,682,815)

Balance at end of the year  61,128,924 62,931,789

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

 Note 2019  2018

  $  $

Cash flows from operating activities   
Net deficit for the year  (1,802,865) (7,682,815)

Adjustments for:   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 2,518,623 1,271,063

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables 6 9,362 7,024

Bad debts written off 6 (2,097) –

Amortisation of deferred capital grant 11 (42,233) (45,092)

Reversal of deferred capital grant 11 – (3,012)

(Gains)/losses on disposals of financial instruments  (891,615) 329,657

Fair value (gains)/losses on financial instruments  (3,338,223) 3,140,852

Assets-in-progress written off   – 282,022

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  1,824 –

Plant and equipment written off  3,000 –

Interest income from investments  16 (1,021,738) (1,142,809)

Interest expense on lease liabilities  249,835 –

Dividend income 16 (464,079) (500,452)

Investment management fee and charges  147,304 79,491

Foreign exchange translation (gains)/ losses on investment portfolio  (49,577) 527,234

  (4,682,479) (3,736,837)

Changes in working capital:   

Inventories  (59,890) (29,239)

Trade and other receivables  (366,982) (712,067)

Prepayments  (34,290) (12,138)

Trade and other payables  137,808 809,364

Deferred revenue   (28,862) 2,661

Net cash used in operating activities  (5,034,695) (3,678,256)

   

Cash flows from investing activities   

Purchase of plant and equipment 4 (1,636,037) (1,034,240)

Proceeds from bank guarantee 4 – 799,161

Proceeds from investment portfolio  6,500,000 3,500,000

Interest received  2,362 10,442

Net cash generated from investing activities  4,866,325 3,275,363

   

Cash flows used in financing activities   

Interest paid   (249,835) –

Payment of lease liabilities  (842,003) –

Net cash used in financing activities  (1,091,838) –

   

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (1,260,208) (402,893)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  2,472,711 2,875,604

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 5 1,212,503 2,472,711

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 11 May 2020.

1 Domicile and activities
 SATA CommHealth (‘the Company’) is a voluntary, not-for-profit organisation limited by guarantee and incorporated in the Republic of Singapore.   
 The address of the Company’s registered office is 351 Chai Chee Street SATA CommHealth Building, Singapore 468982. On 20 June 2019, the  
 Company was designated as an institution of a public character (‘IPC’) under the Singapore Charities Act, Chapter 37. The IPC status is renewable  
 on a yearly basis.

 The principal activities of the Company are the provision of clinical, diagnostic imaging and laboratory services for the prevention, diagnosis and   
 treatment of tuberculosis, chest and heart diseases as well as other medical and health-related services.  

 Each member of the Company has undertaken to contribute such amounts not exceeding $50 to the assets of the Company in the event the  
 Company is wound up and the monies are required for payment of the liabilities of the Company. The Company had 70 (2018: 68) members at the  
 end of the reporting year.

 The memorandum and articles of association restrict the use of fund monies to the furtherance of the objects of the Company. They prohibit the  
 payment of dividends to members.

2 Basis of preparation
2.1 Statement of compliance

 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

 This is the first set of the Company’s annual financial statements in which FRS 116 Leases has been applied. The related changes to significant  
 accounting policies are described in note 2.5.

2.2 Basis of measurement

 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise described in the notes below.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

 These financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.  

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements

 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that  
 affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from  
 these estimates.

 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which  
 the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

2 Basis of preparation (cont’d)
2.4 Use of estimates and judgements (cont’d)

 Measurement of fair values

 A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-financial assets  
 and liabilities.

 The management regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party information, such as broker quotes or  
 pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the valuation team assesses and documents the evidence obtained from the third parties  
 to support the conclusion that these valuations meet the requirements of FRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in the valuations  
 should be classified.

 When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair values are categorised  
 into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

 Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly  
  (i.e. derived from prices).

 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

 If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value  
 measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire  
 measurement (with Level 3 being the lowest).

 The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during which the change has  
 occurred.

2.5 Changes in accounting policies

 New standards 

 The Company has applied the following amendments for the first time for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2019:

 • FRS 116 Leases
 • INT FRS 123 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
 • Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to FRS 28)
 • Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to FRS 109) 
 • Previously Held Interest in a Joint Operation (Amendments to FRS 103 and 110)
 • Income Tax Consequences of Payments on Financial Instruments Classified as Equity (Amendments to FRS 12)
 • Borrowing Costs Eligible for Capitalisation (Amendments to FRS 23)
 • Plan, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to FRS 19)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

2 Basis of preparation (cont’d)
2.5 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

 Other than FRS 116, the application of these amendments to standards and interpretations does not have a material effect on the financial  
 statements.

 FRS 116 Leases

 The Company applied FRS 116 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the cumulative effect of initial application is recognised  
 in retained earnings at 1 January 2019. Accordingly, the comparative information presented for 2018 is not restated – i.e. it is presented, as  
 previously reported, under FRS 17 and related interpretations. The details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed below. Additionally,  
 the disclosure requirements in FRS 116 have not generally been applied to comparative information. 

 Definition of a lease

 Previously, the Company determined at contract inception whether an arrangement was or contained a lease under INT FRS 104 Determining  
 whether an Arrangement contains a Lease. The Company now assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition of a  
 lease, as explained in FRS 116.

 On transition to FRS 116, the Company elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which transactions are leases.   
 The Company applied FRS 116 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts that were not identified as leases under FRS  
 17 and INT FRS 104 were not reassessed for whether there is a lease under FRS 116. Therefore, the definition of a lease under FRS 116 was  
 applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.

 As a lessee

 As a lessee, the Company leases many assets including premises for clinics and office equipment. The Company previously classified leases as  
 operating or finance leases based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred significantly all of the risks and rewards incidental to  
 ownership of the underlying asset to the Company. Under FRS 116, the Company recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for most of  
 these leases – i.e. these leases are on-balance sheet.

 At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the consideration in the contract to  
 each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone price. 

 Leases classified as operating leases under FRS 17

 Previously, the Company classified clinics and office equipment leases as operating leases under FRS 17. On transition, for these leases, lease  
 liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the Company’s incremental borrowing rate  
 applicable to the leases as at 1 January 2019. Right-of-use assets are measured at amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of  
 any prepaid or accrued lease payments.

 The Company has tested its right-of-use assets for impairment on the date of transition and has concluded that there is no indication that the  
 right-of-use assets are impaired.

 The Company used a number of practical expedients when applying FRS 116 to leases previously classified as operating leases under FRS 17. 
 In particular, the Company:

 • did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the date of initial  
  application;
 • excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application; and
 • used hindsight when determining the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

2 Basis of preparation (cont’d)
2.5 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

 As a lessor

 The Company leases out part of its office premises. The Company has classified these leases as operating leases.

 The Company is not required to make any adjustments on transition to FRS 116 for leases in which it acts as a lessor.

 Impact on financial statements

 Impact on transition*

 On transition to FRS 116, the Company recognised additional right-of-use assets and additional lease liabilities. The impact on transition is  
 summarised below.

     1 January 2019
     $

 Right-of-use assets    4,921,924
 Lease liabilities   (4,813,453)

 *  For the impact of FRS 116 in statement of financial activities for the period, see note 22. For the details of accounting policies under FRS 116  
 and FRS 17, see note 3.5.

 When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Company discounted lease payments using the applicable  
 incremental borrowing rates at 1 January 2019. The weighted-average rate applied was 5.45%.

     1 January 2019
     $

 Operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018 as disclosed under 
     FRS 17 in the Company’s financial statements  2,325,736
 Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 2,198,983
 Extension options reasonably certain to be exercised  2,614,470
 Lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019  4,813,453

3 Significant accounting policies
 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements, except as explained in  
 note 2.5, which addresses changes in accounting policies.

3.1 Foreign currency

(i) Foreign currency transactions

 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Company at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.   
 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange  
 rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the  
 beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the  
 exchange rate at the end of the year.

 Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated to the functional currency at  
 the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of  
 historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on translation are  
 recognised in statement of financial activities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
3.2 Financial instruments

(i) Recognition and initial measurement

 Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities

 Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when  
 the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value  
 plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade  
 receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

 Non-derivative financial assets

 On initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial asset into the following measurement categories: amortised cost or FVTPL. The  
 classification depends on the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets as well as the contractual terms of the cash flows of  
 the financial assets.

 Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its business model for managing financial  
 assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business  
 model.

 Financial assets at amortised cost

 A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

 • it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 • its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount  
  outstanding.

 Financial assets at FVTPL

 All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost as described above are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Company  
 may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost as at FVTPL if doing so  
 eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

 Financial assets: Business model assessment

 The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level because this best  
 reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered includes:

 • the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. These include whether management’s   
  strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial  
  assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;
 • how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management;
 • the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and how those risks  
  are managed;
 • how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the  
  contractual cash flows collected; and
 • the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales  
  activity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
3.2 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (cont’d)

 Financial assets: Business model assessment (cont’d)

 Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered sales for this purpose,  
 consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition of the assets.

 Financial assets that are held-for-trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.

 Non-derivative financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

 For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as  
 consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of  
 time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

 In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Company considers the contractual terms of the  
 instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual  
 cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company considers:

 • contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 
 • terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate features;
 • prepayment and extension features; and
 • terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features).

 A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the prepayment amount substantially represents  
 unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early  
 termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a significant discount or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature  
 that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual  
 interest (which may also include reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair  
 value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition.

 Non-derivative financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

 Financial assets at FVTPL

 These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in  
 statement of financial activities.

 Financial assets at amortised cost

 These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment   
 losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in statement of financial activities. Any gain or loss on  
 derecognition is recognised in statement of financial activities.

 Non-derivative financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

 Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held- 
 for-trading or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses,  
 including any interest expense, are recognised in statement of financial activities. Directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in  
 statement of financial activities as incurred.

 Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at  
 amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in statement of  
 financial activities. These financial liabilities comprised trade and other payables.

TRANSFORMING COMMUNITY CARE TOGETHER •  ANNUAL REPORT 201954



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
3.2 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(iii) Derecognition

 Financial assets

 The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights  
 to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are  
 transferred or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain  
 control of the financial asset.

 The Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of financial position, but retains either all or   
 substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised.

 Financial liabilities

 The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expired. The Company also  
 derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a  
 new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

 On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non- 
 cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in statement of financial activities.

(iv) Offsetting

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the  
 Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset  
 and settle the liability simultaneously.

(v) Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances.

(vi) Derivative financial instruments

 The Company holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency exposures. 

 Derivatives are initially measured at fair value and any directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in statement of financial activities as  
 incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are generally recognised in statement of  
 financial activities.

 The Company designates certain derivatives financial instruments as hedging instruments in qualifying hedging relationships. At inception of  
 designated hedging relationships, the Company documents the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.

3.3 Impairment

(i) Non-derivative financial assets

 The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss (“ECLs”) on financial assets measured at amortised costs.

 Loss allowances of the Company are measured on either of the following bases:

 • 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or for a  
  shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months); or 
 • Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument or contract asset.

 Simplified approach

 The Company applies the simplified approach to provide for ECLs for all trade receivables. The simplified approach requires the loss allowance to  
  be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 • TRANSFORMING COMMUNITY CARE TOGETHER 55



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.3 Impairment (cont’d)

(i) Non-derivative financial assets (cont’d) 

 General approach

 The Company applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on all other financial instruments. Under the general approach, the loss allowance  
 is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs at initial recognition.

 At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.   
 When credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.  

 When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the  
 Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both  
 quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and includes  
 forward-looking information.

 If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the financial instruments improves such that there is  
 no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs.

 The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:

 • the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the Company to actions such as realising  
  security (if any is held); or
 • the financial asset is more than 180 days past due.

 The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

 Measurement of ECLs

 ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. Credit losses are measured at the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference  
 between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive). ECLs are  
 discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

 Credit-impaired financial assets

 At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit- 
 impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

 Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

 • significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
 • a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;
 • the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not consider otherwise;
 • it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
 • the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

 Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position

 Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost and contract assets are deducted from the gross carrying amount of these  
 assets. 

 Write-off

 The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery.   
 This is generally the case when the Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient  
 cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement  
 activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.
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3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.3 Impairment (cont’d)

(ii) Non-financial assets 

 The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether  
 there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is  
 recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit (“CGU”) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

 The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the  
 estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the  
 time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually  
 are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash  
 inflows of other assets or CGUs.

 Impairment losses are recognised in statement of financial activities. 

 Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer  
 exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment  
 loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of  
 depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

 A reversal of impairment loss for an asset is recognised in statement of financial activities.

3.4 Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

 Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

 Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes:

 • the cost of materials and direct labour; 
 • any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use; 
 • when the Company has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the items  
  and restoring the site on which they are located; and
 • capitalised borrowing costs.

 Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

 When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components)  
 of property, plant and equipment.

 The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and  
 the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in statement of financial activities.

(ii) Subsequent costs

 The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable  
 that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying  
 amount of the replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in  
 statement of financial activities as incurred.
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3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.4 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

(iii) Depreciation

 Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual assets are assessed and if a component  
 has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated separately.

 Depreciation is recognised as an expense in statement of financial activities on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each  
 component of an item of property, plant and equipment. Freehold land is not depreciated.

 Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are ready for use, or in respect of internally  
 constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use.

 The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

 • Freehold land  Not depreciated
 • Freehold and leasehold buildings 50 years
 • Furniture, fittings, office computer and clinic equipment 3-10 years
 • Motor vehicles  10 years

 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if appropriate.

3.5 Leases

 The Company has applied FRS 116 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the comparative information has not been restated  
 and continues to be reported under FRS 17 and INT FRS 104. The details of accounting policies under FRS 17 and INT FRS 104 are disclosed  
 separately.

 Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

 At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract  
 conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys  
 the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Company uses the definition of a lease in FRS 116.

 This policy is applied to contracts entered into, on or after 1 January 2019.

 As a lessee

 At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the consideration in the contract to  
 each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices.

 The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured   
 at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus  
 any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the  
 site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

 The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease term,  
 unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Company by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset  
 reflects that the Company will exercise a purchase option. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any,  
 and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using  
 the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company  
 uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.
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3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.5 Leases (cont’d)

 The Company determines the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external financing sources and makes  
 certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased.

 Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

 • fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; and 
 • lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early  
  termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

 The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease  
 payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under  
 a residual value guarantee, if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if  
 there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

 When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is  
 recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

 The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. The   
 Company recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

 As a lessor

 At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each 
 lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

 When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.

 To classify each lease, the Company makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards  
 incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of  
 this assessment, the Company considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

 The Company recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight- line basis over the lease term as ‘rental  
 income’.

 Leases - Policy applicable before 1 January 2019

 For contracts entered into before 1 January 2019, the Company determined whether the arrangement was or contained a lease based on the  
 assessment of whether: 

 • fulfilment of the arrangement was dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets; and
 • the arrangement had conveyed a right to use the asset. An arrangement conveyed the right to use the asset if one of the following was met:

  - the purchaser had the ability or right to operate the asset while obtaining or controlling more than an insignificant amount of the output;
  - the purchaser had the ability or right to control physical access to the asset while obtaining or controlling more than an insignificant  
   amount of the output; or
  - facts and circumstances indicated that it was remote that other parties would take more than an insignificant amount of the output, and  
   the price per unit was neither fixed per unit of output nor equal to the current market price per unit of output.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 • TRANSFORMING COMMUNITY CARE TOGETHER 59



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.5 Leases (cont’d)

 As a lessee

 In the comparative period, as a lessee the Company classified leases that transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership as  
 finance leases. When this was the case, the leased assets were measured initially at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the  
 present value of the minimum lease payments. Minimum lease payments were the payments over the lease term that the lessee was required  
 to make, excluding any contingent rent. Subsequent to initial recognition, the assets were accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy  
 applicable to that asset.

 Assets held under other leases were classified as operating leases and were not recognised in the Company’s statement of financial position.   
 Payments made under operating leases were recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives  
 received were recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

 As a lessor

 Generally, the accounting policies applicable to the Company as a lessor in the comparative period were not different from FRS 116.

3.6 Inventories

 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in first-out principle, and  
 includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their  
 existing location and condition.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs  
 necessary to make the sale.

3.7 Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution plans

 A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have  
 no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an  
 employee benefit expense in statement of financial activities in the periods during which related services are rendered by employees.

(ii) Short-term employee benefits

 Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability  
 is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to  
 pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

3.8 Provisions

 A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably,  
 and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the  
 expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the  
 liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

3.9 Income recognition

(i) Goods and services sold 

 Income from sale of goods and services in the ordinary course of business is recognised when the Company satisfies a performance obligation  
 (PO) by transferring control of a promised good or service to the customer. The amount of income recognised is the amount of the transaction  
 price allocated to the satisfied PO.
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3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.9 Income recognition (cont’d)

 The transaction price is allocated to each PO in the contract on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling prices of the promised goods or  
 services. The individual standalone selling price of a good or service that has not previously been sold on a stand-alone basis, or has a highly  
 variable selling price, is determined based on the residual portion of the transaction price after allocating the transaction price to goods and/or  
 services with observable stand-alone selling prices.  

 A discount or variable consideration is allocated to one or more, but not all, of the performance obligations if it relates specifically to those  
 performance obligations.

 The transaction price is the amount of consideration in the contract to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring  
 the promised goods or services. The transaction price may be fixed or variable and is adjusted for time value of money if the contract includes a  
 significant financing component. Consideration payable to a customer is deducted from the transaction price if the Company does not receive  
 a separate identifiable benefit from the customer. When consideration is variable, the estimated amount is included in the transaction price to  
 the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal of the cumulative income will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the   
 variable consideration is resolved.

 Income may be recognised at a point in time or over time following the timing of satisfaction of the PO. If a PO is satisfied over time, income is  
 recognised based on the percentage of completion reflecting the progress towards complete satisfaction of that PO.

(ii) Investment income

 Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest rate that takes into account the effective yield on the asset. Dividend  
 income from investments is recognised when the Company’s right to receive the dividend is legally established.

 On disposal, the difference between carrying amount and the sale proceeds of financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss is  
 recognised as income in statement of financial activities.

(iii) Donations and corporate cash sponsorships

 Income from donations and corporate cash sponsorships are accounted for when received, except for committed donations and corporate cash  
 sponsorships that are recorded when the commitments are signed. Such income is only deferred when: the donor specifies that the grant or  
 donation must only be used in future accounting periods; or the donor has imposed conditions which must be met before the Company has   
 unconditional entitlement.

3.10 Government grants

 A government grant is recognised at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that the conditions attaching to it will be complied with and  
 that the grant will be received. Grants in recognition of specific expenses is recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them  
 with the related costs that they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. A grant related to depreciable assets is allocated to income  
 over the period in which such assets are used in the project subsidised by the grant. A government grant related to assets, including non- 
 monetary grants at fair value, is presented in the statement of financial position by setting up the grant as deferred income.

3.11 Donation in kind

 A donation in kind is initially recognised based on an estimate of the fair value at the date of the receipt of the non-monetary asset and any  
 resulting income should be deferred until all conditions are satisfied. 
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3.12 Finance costs

 The Company’s finance costs include interest expense.  

 Interest expense is recognised using the effective interest method.  

 The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial  
 instrument to the amortised cost of the financial liability.

 In calculating interest expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost of the liability.  

 Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition of a qualifying asset are recognised in statement of financial activities using the  
 effective interest method.

3.13 Tax

 As a charity, the Company is exempted from tax on income and gains falling within section 13(1)(zm) of the Income Tax Act to the extent that these  
 are applied to its charitable objects.

3.14 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

 A number of new standards and interpretations and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2019  
 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Company has not early adopted the new or amended standards and interpretations in preparing  
 these financial statements.

 The following new FRSs, interpretations and amendments to FRSs are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial  
 statements.

 • Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in FRS Standards 
 • Definition of a Business (Amendments to FRS 103)
 • Definition of Material (Amendments to FRS 1 and FRS 8)
 • FRS 117 Insurance Contracts
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4 Property, plant and equipment

Cost

At 1 January 2018

Additions

Transfer to assets

Disposals/Written off

At 31 December 2018

Recognition of right-of-use

   assets on initial

   application of FRS 116

Adjusted balance at

   1 January 2019

Additions

Transfer to assets

Disposals/Written off

At 31 December 2019

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2018

Charge for the year

Disposals

At 31 December 2018

At 1 January 2019

Charge for the year

Disposals/Written off

At 31 December 2019

Carrying value

At 1 January 2018

At 31 December 2018

At 31 December 2019

Freehold
land*

$

650,000

–

–

–

650,000

–

650,000

–

–

–

650,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

650,000

650,000

650,000

Freehold
building

$

10,629,386

42,245

–

–

10,671,631

–

10,671,631

16,360

–

–

10,687,991

4,822,530

241,922

–

5,064,452

5,064,452

245,215

–

5,309,667

5,806,856

5,607,179

5,378,324

Motor
vehicles

$

1,670,410

16,100

–

(30,695)

1,655,815

–

1,655,815

11,088

–

–

1,666,903

1,334,013

56,038

(30,695)

1,359,356

1,359,356

58,748

–

1,418,104

336,397

296,459

248,799

Asset in-
progress

$

984,113

550,311

(16,342)

(1,081,183)

436,899

–

436,899

–

(433,899)

(3,000)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

984,113

436,899

–

Right-of-use 
assets

$

–

–

–

–

–

4,921,924

4,921,924

229,601

–

(5,165)

5,146,360

–

–

–

–

–

977,613

(2,215)

975,398

–

–

4,170,962

Total
$

29,845,148

1,034,240

–

(1,581,388)

29,298,000

4,921,924

34,219,924

1,865,638

–

(558,743)

35,526,819

15,477,738

1,271,063

(500,205)

16,248,596

16,248,596

2,518,623

(550,969)

18,216,250

14,367,410

13,049,404

17,310,569

Leasehold 
building

$

8,307,929

40,772

16,342

–

8,365,043

–

8,365,043

402,748

349,712

–

9,117,503

3,781,441

266,806

–

4,048,247

4,048,247

400,281

–

4,448,528

4,526,488

4,316,796

4,668,975

Furniture, 
fittings, office 

computer 
and clinic 
equipment

$

7,603,310 

384,812

–

(469,510)

7,518,612

–

7,518,612

1,205,841

84,187

(550,578)

8,258,062

5,539,754

706,297

(469,510)

5,776,541

5,776,541

836,766

(548,754)

6,064,553

2,063,556

1,742,071

2,193,509

 * The freehold land was donated to the Company in 1954.
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4 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 Right-of-use assets

 The Company leases assets including premises for clinics and office equipment. The right-of-use assets arising from these leases are presented  
 as part of property, plant and equipment. More information about the leases are in Note 22. 

 Written-off assets

 On 15 July 2015, the Company entered into an agreement with an IT service provider on an implementation of an integrated medical information  
 system. The agreement was guaranteed by a performance bond of equivalent amount of the agreement value from a bank. In 2018, the  
 performance bond was exercised and an amount of $799,161 was received by the Company. The related assets-in-progress of $1,081,183 was  
 then written off in 2018 and the net difference of $282,022 with the proceeds received from the performance bond was recognised in  
 administrative expenses (see note 20).

5 Cash and cash equivalents
     2019 2018
     $ $

 Cash at bank and in hand   1,212,503 2,472,711

 The above balance excludes cash held by fund manager (see note 8).

6 Trade and other receivables
     2019 2018
     $ $

 Trade receivables   1,445,813 1,300,716
 Less: Impairment losses   (11,536) (7,412)

     1,434,277 1,293,304
 Deposits    211,049 222,104
 Grant receivables   350,722 155,265
 Other receivables   34,421 79

     2,030,469 1,670,752

 The Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks is disclosed in note 25.

 The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date is:

     2019 2018
     $ $

 Trade receivables   
 Current (Not past due)   913,561 901,479
 1 – 30 days past due   349,843 288,889
 31 – 60 days past due   73,505 18,148
 61 – 90 days past due   72,113 6,750
 91 – 180 days past due   24,160 79,088
 More than 180 days past due  12,631 6,362

      1,445,813 1,300,716

 The following table provides information about the Company’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 December 2019.
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6 Trade and other receivables (cont’d)
     2019  2018
    Not credit- Credit-  Not credit- Credit-   
    impaired impaired  impaired  impaired
    $ $ $ $

 Current (Not past due)  913,561 – 901,479 –
 1 – 30 days past due  349,843 – 288,889 –
 31 – 60 days past due  73,505 – 18,148 –
 61 – 90 days past due  72,113 – 6,750 –
 91 – 180 days past due  24,160 – 78,038 1,050
 More than 180 days past due 1,095 11,536 – 6,362

 Total gross carrying amount 1,434,277 11,536 1,293,304 7,412
 Loss allowance  – (11,536) – (7,412)

    1,434,277 – 1,293,304 –

 Movements in impairment losses during the financial year are as follows:

     2019 2018
     $ $

 At beginning of the year    7,412 6,818
 Allowance made during the year  9,362 7,024
 Recovered during the year   (3,141) (6,430)
 Written off during the year   (2,097) –

 At end of the year    11,536 7,412

7 Inventories
     2019 2018
     $ $

 Drugs and medical supplies  132,021 72,131

 Cost of inventories included in the Statement of Financial Activities 
       as clinical, diagnostic imaging and laboratory services expenses 807,484 544,619

8 Investments
     2019 2018
     $ $

 Cash held by fund manager  2,050,619 462,467
 Equity investments – mandatorily at FVTPL  17,993,069 17,179,222
 Debt investments – mandatorily at FVTPL  28,936,645 32,233,276
 Forward exchange contracts   173,996 163,798
 Unquoted equity investment   1 1

     49,154,330 50,038,764

 The rate of interest for the cash on interest earning balances of $523,617 (2018: $9,285) is 0.01% and 0.98% (2018: 0.57% and 2.25%) per  
 annum.

 Debt investments at FVTPL have stated interest rates of 1.85% to 4.60% (2018: 1.85% to 4.35%) and mature within 10 years.
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9 Accumulated fund
     2019 2018
     $ $

 Unrestricted accumulated fund  61,128,924 62,931,789

 No. of years reserves coverage of annual operating
     expenditure less investment management fees  2.36 2.81

 The Company has a reserves policy. The reserves of the Company provide financial stability and the means for the development of the Company’s  
 activities. The Company intends to maintain the reserves at a level sufficient for its operating needs. The directors review the level of reserves  
 regularly for the Company’s continuing obligations.

10 Lease liabilities 
     2019 2018
     $ $

 Lease liabilities   4,185,355 –

 Non-current    3,329,651 –
 Current     855,704 –

     4,185,355 –

 Terms and debt repayment schedule 

    Nominal Year of  Face Carrying
    interest rate maturity value amount
    %  $ $

 2019
 Lease liabilities  3.90% to 5.65% 2020 to 2025 4,749,498 4,185,355

 Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

       Lease liabilities
       $

 Balance at 1 January 2019    –
 Recognition of lease liabilities on initial application of FRS 116*    4,813,453

 Adjusted balance at 1 January 2019    4,813,453

 Changes from financing cash flows 
 Payment of lease liabilities     (842,003)
 Interest paid     (249,835)

 Total changes from financing cash flows    (1,091,838)

 Other changes 
 Liability-related 
 Interest expenses     249,835 
 New leases     42,291
 Lease modifications during the year    174,594
 Early lease termination with no penalty    (2,980)

 Total liability-related other changes    463,740

 Balance at 31 December 2019    4,185,355

 * Refer to Note 2.5 for more information.
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11 Other liabilities
     2019 2018
     $ $

 At beginning of the year   93,679 141,783
 Less: Reversal of capital grant  – (3,012)
 Less: Deferred capital grant amortised  (42,233) (45,092)

 At end of the year   51,446 93,679

 Other liabilities refer to deferred capital grants received from various organisations.

12 Provision for reinstatement cost 
     2019 2018
     $ $

 At beginning of the year   106,318 6,750
 Provision made   127,776 99,568

 At end of the year   234,094 106,318

 The provision for reinstatement cost is the estimated cost for dismantling, removing and reinstating the clinic premises to its original condition at  
 the end of the lease term as required by the lease agreement. The provision is based on management’s best estimate of the expenditure with  
 reference to past quotations.

13 Trade and other payables 
     2019 2018
     $ $

 Payables for clinical, diagnostic imaging and laboratory supplies  1,182,643 1,446,912
 Accrued expenditure   2,684,610 2,090,763
 Deposits received   245,006 245,006
 Government grants received in excess  178,724 377,053

     4,290,983 4,159,734 

14 Donations 
     2019 2018
     $ $

 Tax deductible donations   19,935 –
 Non-tax deductible donations  1,051 2,134

     20,986 2,134

15 Grants 
     2019 2018
     $ $

 Government grants and credits  266,237 193,003
 Government funding   448,884 536,902
 Reimbursement on government paid leaves  28,229 40,685

     743,350 770,590
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16 Interest and dividend income
     2019 2018
     $ $

 Interest income from assets at fair value  1,021,738 1,142,809
 Dividend income from assets at fair value  464,079 500,452

     1,485,817 1,643,261

17 Other income 
     2019 2018
     $ $

 Receipt of Charity Governance Award  10,000 –
 Receipt of compensation for employee’s bond termination   20,000 –
 Membership income   700 500
 Sundry income   1,160 –

     31,860 500

18 Clinical, diagnostic imaging and laboratory services expenses 
     Note  2019 2018
     $ $

 Clinical, diagnostic imaging and laboratory supplies  2,307,702 2,045,677
 Employee benefits expenses  21 10,533,684 9,837,702
 Depreciation expense   286,115 226,114
 Other expenses   446,094 319,956

     13,573,595 12,429,449 

19 Resources expended for charitable activities – operating expenses 
     Note  2019 2018
     $ $

 Employee benefits expenses  21 3,261,561 1,703,663
 Depreciation expense   235,033 48,998
 Finance cost   6,106 –
 Rental expenses under FRS 17  – 60,326
 Sponsorship   300 (5,158)
 Subsidised costs   455,718 366,563
 Administrative expenses allocated to charitable activities  1,418,462 1,493,753
 Other expenses   986,776 736,909

     6,363,956 4,405,054
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20 Administrative expenses
     Note  2019 2018
      $ $

 Employee benefits expenses  21 2,428,704 2,327,497
 Depreciation expense   1,997,475 995,951
 Finance cost   250,318 –
 Rental expenses under FRS 17  – 984,445
 IT support and maintenance expense  563,961 748,374
 Other expenses   740,834 231,700
 Assets-in-progress written off net of proceeds from bank guarantee – 282,022
 Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  1,827 –

     5,983,119 5,569,989

21 Employee benefits expenses 
       2019 2018
     $ $

 Short-term employee benefits expenses   14,132,351 12,096,659
 Contributions to defined contribution plan   1,534,964 1,247,898
 Other benefits    556,634 524,305

      16,223,949 13,868,862

22 Leases 
(i) Leases as lessee

 The Company leases its clinics and office equipment. The leases typically run for an average period of three to five years, with an option to renew  
 the lease after that date. Lease payments are renegotiated at the end of the lease to reflect market rentals. For certain leases, the Company is  
 restricted from entering into any sub-lease arrangements.

 Information about leases for which the Company is a lessee is presented below.

 Right-of-use assets recognised in property, plant and equipment (see note 4)

     Premises for  Office 
     clinics  equipment Total
     $ $ $

 Adjusted balance at 1 January 2019  4,884,500 37,424 4,921,924
 Depreciation charge for the year  (964,041) (13,572) (977,613)
 Additions of right-of-use assets arising from:   
 - New leases    26,520 28,487 55,007
 - Lease modifications   174,594 – 174,594
 Disposals of right-of-use assets arising from early lease termination – (2,950) (2,950)

 Balance at 31 December 2019  4,121,573 49,389 4,170,962
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22 Leases (cont’d)  
(i) Leases as lessee (cont’d)

 Amounts recognised in profit or loss

 2019 - Leases under FRS 116    $

 Interest on lease liabilities      249,835
 Depreciation      977,613

 The Company does not have any short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.

 2018 - Operating leases under FRS 17    $

 Operating lease expense      1,044,771

 Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows 

       2019
      $

 Total cash outflow for leases – payment of interest and lease liabilities    1,091,838

(ii) Leases as lessor  

 The Company leases out part of its office premise in the freehold building. All leases are classified as operating leases from a lessor perspective.

 Operating lease

 The Company has classified these leases as operating leases, because they do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to  
 the ownership of the assets.

 Rental income from operating lease recognised by the Company during 2019 was $680,928 (2018: $673,766).

 The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received after the reporting date.

 2019 – Operating leases under FRS 116    $

 Less than one year     704,392
 One to two years     704,392
 Two to three years     704,392
 Three to four years     704,392
 Four to five years     528,294

 Total       3,345,862

 2018 – Operating leases under FRS 17    $

 Less than one year     681,422
 Between one and five years    2,817,568
 More than five years     528,294

 Total       4,027,284
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23 Commitments
 Capital commitments

 Estimated amounts committed at the end of the reporting year for future expenditure but not recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

     2019 2018
     $ $

 Commitments to purchase of plant and equipment  66,557 664,140

24 Related parties
 Key management personnel compensation

     2019 2018
     $ $

 Salaries and other short-term employee benefits  1,507,960 1,064,225

 Key management personnel include the chief executive officer and 9 (2018: 7) other senior officers.

 Other related party transactions

 It is not the practice for the trustees/office bearers, or people connected with them, to receive remuneration, or other benefits, from the Company  
 for which they are responsible, or from institutions connected with the Company. 

 There were no related party transactions during the reporting year.

 Board member compensation

 The board members do not receive any compensation from the Company during the reporting year.

25 Financial instruments 
 Financial risk management

 Overview

 The Company has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

 • credit risk
 • liquidity risk
 • market risk

 This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for  
 measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s management of reserves.

 Risk management framework

 The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management framework. Management  
 is responsible for developing and monitoring the Company’s risk management policies. Management reports regularly to the Board of Directors on  
 its activities.
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25 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 Credit risk

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual  
 obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s receivables from customers and investment securities.

 The Company has policies in place to ensure that credit risk is mitigated.

 Cash and cash equivalents are placed with financial institutions which are regulated. Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been  
 measured on the 12-month expected loss basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Company considers that its cash and cash  
 equivalents have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties. The amount of the allowance on cash and cash   
 equivalents was negligible.

 The company limits its exposure to credit risk from trade receivables by establishing different credit terms. The average credit period generally  
 granted to customers is about 30 days (2018: 30 days) but some customers take a longer period to settle the amounts. 

 Funds under management classified as FVTPL

 Investment manager is responsible for managing the investments in accordance with the provisions set out in the Company’s Memorandum and  
 Articles of Association and the guidelines set out by the Investment Policy Statement as approved by the Board. The investment guidelines set  
 forth investment objectives and risk parameters including eligible asset classes, minimum credit ratings and risk limits.

 The funds are placed with reputable investment manager appointed by the Company for investment management.

 Debt investments

 The Company limits its exposure to credit risk on investments held by investing only in liquid debt securities and only with counterparties that  
 have a credit rating of at least BBB/Baa2 credit rating or above by Standard & Poor’s or Moodys or equivalent, (such as those rated by the  
 independent rating unit of the fund managers).

 The exposure to credit risk for debt investments at FVTPL (2018: FVTPL) at the reporting date by geographic region was as follows:

       2019 2018
     $ $

 Singapore     13,928,349 10,076,795
 Australia     2,540,243 1,519,015
 China     3,893,549 5,880,970
 Hong Kong    4,996,401 2,704,546
 India     839,202 748,543
 Japan     – 1,078,801
 Malaysia     706,381 694,390
 Philippines    2,032,520 1,980,431
 South Korea    – 2,559,171
 United States of America    – 4,256,742
 Virgin Islands GB    – 733,872

      28,936,645 32,233,276
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25 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled  
 by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always  
 have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or  
 risking damage to the Company’s reputation.

 The Company monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance the  
 Company’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

 Exposure to liquidity risk

 The following are the expected contractual maturities of financial liabilities.  The amounts are gross and undiscounted, and include contractual  
 interest payments and exclude the impact of netting agreements:

      Contractual cash flows   

    Carrying  Within Between  
    amount Total 1 year  1 to 5 years
    $ $ $ $

 At 31 December 2019
 Lease liabilities  4,185,355 4,185,355 855,704 3,329,651
 Trade and other payables  4,290,983 4,290,983 4,290,983 –

    8,476,338 8,476,338 5,146,687 3,329,651 

 At 31 December 2018 
 Trade and other payables  4,159,734 4,159,734 4,159,734 –

    4,159,734 4,159,734 4,159,734 –

 Market risk

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Company’s  
 income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk  
 exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

 Foreign currency risk

 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of financial assets or liabilities will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The  
 Company is exposed to currency risk on other investments and cash and cash equivalent balance that are denominated in a currency other than  
 the functional currencies of the Company. The currencies in which these balances are denominated are the Swiss Franc (CHF), Euro (EUR), Great  
 British Pound (GBP), Hong Kong dollar (HKD), Philippines Peso (PHP), Thai Baht (THB), Taiwan Dollar (TWD), US dollar (USD) and Japanese Yen (YEN). 
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25 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

 The Company’s exposure to foreign currencies is as follows:

       2019 2018
 Financial assets at FVTPL  $ $

 CHF     499,868 –
 EUR     620,082 –
 GBP     54 240,249
 HKD     1,730,768 3,402,608
 PHP     287,232 –
 THB     458,411 –
 TWD     520,180 1,057,319
 USD     21,232,590 24,120,316
 YEN     607,653 474,308

      25,956,838 29,294,800

 Sensitivity analysis – foreign currency risk

 A 10% strengthening of the following currencies against the Singapore dollar at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) the Company’s  
 net surplus or deficit by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 

       2019 2018
     $ $

 CHF     49,987 –
 EUR     62,008 –
 GBP     5 24,025
 HKD     173,077 340,261
 PHP     28,723 –
 THB     45,841 –
 TWD     52,018 105,732
 USD     2,123,259 2,412,032
 YEN      60,765 47,431

 A 10% weakening of the above currencies against the Singapore dollar at the reporting date would have had the equal but opposite effect to the  
 amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

 Interest rate risk

 Exposure to interest rate risk

 At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to management was as follows:

       2019 2018
     $ $

 Fixed rate instruments   
 Financial assets    28,936,645 32,233,276
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25 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 Interest rate risk (cont’d)

 Exposure to interest rate risk (cont’d)

       2019 2018
     $ $

 Variable rate instruments   
 Financial assets    523,617 9,285

 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

 The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, in respect of the fixed rate  
 instrument, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect statement of financial activities. 

 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

 A change of 10 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) the Company’s net surplus or deficit by the  
 amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

       10 bp 10 bp
       increase decrease
     $ $

 31 December 2019
 Variable rate instruments    52,362 (52,362)

 Cash flow sensitivity    52,362 (52,362)

 31 December 2018
 Variable rate instruments    928 (928)

 Cash flow sensitivity    928 (928)

 Equity price risk

 Equity price risk is the risk the fair value or future cash flows of the Company’s investments will fluctuate because of the changes in market prices  
 (other than interest or exchange rates). The Company is exposed to equity price risk arising from its financial assets at FVTPL.

 Sensitivity analysis - equity price risk

 The Company’s equity securities are mainly listed on the stock exchanges in Singapore and the United States of America.

        Carrying amount
      2019 2018
     $ $

 Equity investments - mandatorily at FVTPL    17,993,069 17,179,222

 As at 31 December 2019, if the price for the equity securities increased by 10% with all other variable including tax rate being held constant, the  
 increase in the Company’s net surplus or deficit will result in an increase of $1,799,307 (2018: $1,717,922). A similar 10% decrease in prices  
 would have an equal opposite effect to the amount above.
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25 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 Accounting classifications and fair values

 The carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy are as follows.  It does not  
 include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable  
 approximation of fair value. The fair value disclosure of lease liabilities is also not required. 

Level 1 
$

49,154,329

Level 2 
$

–

Level 3 
$

1

Total 
$

49,154,330

31 December 2019
   Financial assets    
   measured at fair value
Financial investments –    
   mandatorily at FVTPL 

Financial assets not   
   measured at fair value
Trade and other   
   receivables
Cash and cash  
   equivalents

Financial liabilities not     
   measured at fair value
Lease liabilities  
Trade and other payables*

FVTPL – 
financial 
assets

$

49,154,330

–

–

–

–
–

–

Amortised 
cost

$

–

2,030,469

1,212,503

3,242,972

–
–

–

Other 
financial
liabilities 

$

–

–

–

–

4,185,355
4,112,259

8,297,614

Total 
$

49,154,330

2,030,469

1,212,503

3,242,972

4,185,355
4,112,259

8,297,614

Note

8

6

5

10
13

* Excluding grants received in excess

Carrying amount Fair value
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25 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 Accounting classifications and fair values (cont’d)

Level 1 
$

50,038,763

Level 2 
$

–

Level 3 
$

1

Total 
$

50,038,764

31 December 2018
   Financial assets    
   measured at fair value
Financial investments –    
   mandatorily at FVTPL 

Financial assets not   
   measured at fair value
Trade and other   
   receivables
Cash and cash  
   equivalents

Financial liabilities not     
   measured at fair value
Trade and other payables*

FVTPL – 
financial 
assets

$

50,038,764

–

–

–

–

Amortised 
cost

$

–

1,670,752

2,472,711

4,143,463

–

Other 
financial
liabilities 

$

–

–

–

–

3,782,681

Total 
$

50,038,764

1,670,752

2,472,711

4,143,463

3,782,681 

Note

8

6

5

13

* Excluding grants received in excess

Carrying amount Fair value

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 • TRANSFORMING COMMUNITY CARE TOGETHER 77



REGISTERED OFFICE
351 Chai Chee Street
SATA CommHealth Building
Singapore 468982

SATA CommHealth Medical Centres and Clinics

ANG MO KIO
Blk 715 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 6
#01-4008/4010
Singapore 560715

BEDOK
351 Chai Chee Street
SATA CommHealth Building
Singapore 468982

JURONG
Blk 135 Jurong Gateway Road
#04-345
Singapore 600135

POTONG PASIR
1 Siang Kuang Avenue
Singapore 347919

TAMPINES
5 Tampines Central 6
#01-01A Telepark Building
Singapore 529482

TANJONG PAGAR
Blk 7 Tanjong Pagar Plaza
#02-103
Singapore 081007

WOODLANDS
900 South Woodlands Drive
#04-01 Woodlands Civic Centre
Singapore 730900

COMMUNITY HUB (SENGKANG)
Blk 447B Jalan Kayu
#01-01 Fernvale Lodge
Singapore 792447

JURONG EAST COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTRE
Blk 229 Jurong East St 21
#01-701
Singapore 600229

www.sata.com.sg

www.facebook.com/sata.commhealth
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